Agenda
Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny Panel
Monday 12 July 2021 at 6.30 pm
Virtual meeting viewable by weblink
Contact: Kevin Jacob, Growth Board Democratic Services Officer
E-mail: democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org
Telephone: 01235 422191
Website: www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org
Members:
Councillor Jabu Nala-Hartley
Councillor Katherine Miles
Councillor Lucy Pegg
Councillor Adam Nell
Councillor David Hughes
Councillor Sean Woodcock, (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Andrew Gant, (Chair)
Councillor Brad Baines
Councillor Liam Walker
Councillor Peter Dragonetti
Councillor David Turner
Councillor Victoria Haval
Councillor Andy Cooke
Councillor Matt Barber
Vacancy
Councillor Derek Cotterill
Councillor Alex Postan
Councillor Dan Levy

Oxford City Council

Cherwell District Council

Oxfordshire County Council

South Oxfordshire District Council

Vale of White Horse District Council

West Oxfordshire District Council

The quorum is six members, one from each council. Substitutes are allowed and should be notified
to the contact above.

The meeting will be web streamed. Please see the note at
http://democratic.whitehorsedc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=604&MId=2927 on how
to observe the meeting

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the contact officer know in
advance of this meeting.

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence, substitutes; declarations of interest,
Chair's announcements

2.

Minutes of the previous meeting

(Pages 6 - 12)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 1 June 2021.
3.

Public participation

(To Follow)

Members of the public may submit an address or question in writing to the Scrutiny
Panel, where full notice of the question or address is given to the secretariat no later than
17:00 on Tuesday 6 July 2021. Questions and addresses submitted should be no
longer than one side of A4 paper in Arial 12 font. The address or question will be
circulated to the Panel and public speakers will be invited to speak at the virtual meeting.
Written submissions may also be read out by the Chair or Democratic Services Officer
where requested or if the person making the request for public speaking is not able to
attend the meeting. A response may be given at the meeting or a written answer
supplied. Questions and notice of addresses must be submitted to
democratic.services@oxfordshiregrowthboard.org
Note: This meeting may be recorded for live broadcast via the Growth Board’s YouTube
Channel - at the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm the meeting is being filmed. By
registering to speak you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of those video
and audio recordings for webcasting.
4.

Growth Board response to Scrutiny Panel recommendations
(Pages 13 - 15)

To consider the Growth Board’s response to the recommendations from the Scrutiny
Panel meeting held on 1 June 2021.
5.

Pathways to a Zero Carbon Oxfordshire Report

(Pages 16 - 29)

To consider a report to the Growth Board setting out the outcomes from the Oxfordshire
Zero Carbon Economy Study and how it impacts on and can inform the Growth Board’s
programmes.
6.

Oxfordshire Plan 2050- Endorsement of Regulation 18 Part two
Plan for consultation (Pages 30 - 38)

To consider a report to the Growth Board recommending that the Growth Board note and
endorse the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Regulation 18 Part 2 Consultation Document and
asking that partner councils approve the draft plan for consultation.

7.

Renaming the Growth Board

(Pages 39 - 41)

To consider a report to the Growth Board which summarises the steps required to be
undertaken to change the name of the Board. The report also presents the opportunity to

resolve to adopt a new name, should the voting membership of the Board wish to do so.
8.

Housing and Growth Deal Reports

(a)

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report -Quarter 4, Year 3 (Pages 42
- 53)

To consider a report to the Growth Board setting out the 2020/2021 Quarter 4 progress
for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and amendments to the programme of
work as necessary.
(b)

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Report Quarter 4, Year 3 (Pages 54 61)

To consider a report to the Growth Board setting out a financial summary for Quarter 4,
Year 3 (2020/21) of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.
(c)

Infrastructure Advisory Group update (Pages 62 - 67)

To receive the summary notes from the Infrastructure Advisory Group meetings held on
26 May 2021 and 28 June 2021.
(d)

Housing Advisory Group update (To Follow)

To receive an update from the Housing Advisory Group meeting held on 6 July 2021.
(e)

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group update (Pages 68 - 75)

To receive the summary notes from the meetings of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory
Group meetings held on 3 June 2021 and 17 June 2021.
(f)

Environment Advisory Group update (To Follow)

To receive the summary notes of the meeting of the Environment Advisory Group held on
1 July 2021.
9.

Oxford to Cambridge Arc Update

(Verbal Report)

To receive any relevant update from the Growth Board director concerning developments
within the Oxford to Cambridge Arc.
10.

Work programme for the Scrutiny Panel - July 2021

(Pages 76 - 77)

To discuss the draft work programme for the Panel.
11.

Dates of next meetings

The dates of confirmed future Scrutiny Panel meetings are below, all meetings at 6.30
pm. Please refer to https://www.oxfordshiregrowthboard.org/meetings/ for the most up to
date information.





Monday 13 September 2021
Monday 15 November 2021
Monday 17 January 2022
Tuesday 15 March 2022




Tuesday 31 May 2022
Tuesday 19 July 2022

Councillors’ duties on declaring interests
General duty
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses);
contracts; land in the council’s area; licences for land in the council’s area; corporate tenancies;
and securities. These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s register of interests
which is publicly available on the council’s website.
Declaring an interest
Where any matter disclosed in your register of interests is being considered at a meeting, you must
declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of
the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting
you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting
whilst the matter is discussed.
Member’s Code of Conduct and public perception
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Councillors’ Code of
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer
an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place
yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”. What this means is
that the matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the code as a whole and regard
should continue to be paid to the perception of the public.
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but
also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if
they were civil partners.

Agenda Item 2

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny
Panel
HELD ON TUESDAY 1 JUNE 2021 AT 6.30 PM
VIRTUAL MEETING VIEWABLE BY WEBLINK
Present:
Councillors Andrew Gant (Chair), Brad Baines, Andy Cooke, Victoria Haval, Dan Levy,
Katherine Miles, Jabu Nala-Hartley, Adam Nell, Lucy Pegg, Alex Postan, David Turner and
Sean Woodcock, (Vice-Chair)
Officers contributing to and supporting the Panel:
Richard Byard
Director of Business Environment, OxLEP
Andrew Down
Growth Board Director
Ahmed Goga
Director of Strategy and Programmes, OxLEP
Susan Harbour
Strategic Partnerships Manager – South and Vale District Councils
Sarah Haywood
Managing Director, Advanced Oxford
Kevin Jacob
Democratic Services Officer – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Stefan Robinson Growth Board Manager – Oxfordshire Growth Board
Paul Staines
Interim Head of Programme - Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal

1.

Election of Chair of the Scrutiny Panel for 2021/2022

Councillor Sean Woodcock proposed and Councillor Katherine Miles seconded Councillor
Andrew Gant as Chair of the Panel. There being no other nominations, the proposal was
agreed upon being put to a vote.
RESOLVED: That Councillor Andrew Gant be elected as Chair of the Growth Board
Scrutiny Panel for the 2021/2022 year.

2.

Election of Vice-Chair of the Scrutiny Panel for 2021/2022

Councillor Andrew Gant proposed and Councillor Brad Baines seconded Councillor Sean
Woodcock as Vice-Chair of the Panel. Councillor Alex Postan then proposed himself as
Vice-Chair of the Panel which was seconded by Councillor Sean Woodcock.
Each candidate made a short address to the Panel and upon being put to a vote,
Councillor Sean Woodcock was elected as Vice-Chair.
RESOLVED: That Councillor Sean Woodcock be elected as Vice-Chair of the Growth
Board Scrutiny Panel for the 2021/2022 year.

Page 6

3.
Apologies for absence, substitutes; declarations of interest,
Chair's announcements
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor Matthew Barber, Vale of White
Horse District Council and Councillor David Hughes, Cherwell District Council.
There were no declarations of interest.
The Chair welcomed new and continuing members of the Panel to the meeting and
explained that as the Panel was not a formally constituted local authority committee it was
considered possible for Panel meetings to continue virtually despite the lapse of the
statutory regulations which had allowed for virtue formal meetings. It was noted that the
meeting was being livestreamed and that a recording could be found by clicking on this
link.

4.

Minutes of the previous meeting

The minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2021 were agreed subject to the correction
of ‘realised’ to ‘released’ within minute No 54.

5.

Oxfordshire Growth Board Scrutiny Panel Terms of Reference

Amit Alva, Growth Board Scrutiny Officer, presented the Terms of Reference of the Panel
for information and indicated that officers supporting the Panel would be happy to put in
place arrangements for individual inductions if any members wished to contact them
directly.
The Chair drew the Panel’s attention to para 6 of the document which set out
arrangements for the attendance of substitute members if a member was unable to attend
a meeting and commented that para 8.1 extended to items being taken to the Growth
Board for information as well as items for decision. Members were also invited to submit
potential Growth Board related items for inclusion on the Panel’s work programme.

6.

Public participation

Suzanne McIvor on behalf of the Cherwell Development Watch Alliance submitted a
question relating to the Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment, (OGNA) and the response
made by the Growth Board to the recommendation made by the Panel at its 16 March
meeting, that the Growth Board ensure that OGNA work be published as soon as work
was completed; or clarify the reasons for publishing it as part of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050
Regulation 18 Part 2 consultation.
Ms McIvor expressed her view that there was no good reason why the OGNA could not be
published, that this was unacceptable and that she did not agree with the explanation why
it should not be released given by Growth Board Officers in March.
Ms McIvor suggested that as individual council Cabinets were about to consider the
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Consultation Document, with public consultation planned during the
summer, the OGNA, as a key evidence base for the Plan must have been finished.
Planning Policy Guidance indicated that authorities were encouraged to publish

Page 7

documents forming part of a plan’s evidence base as they were completed rather than
when options were published.
The Chair invited Andrew Down, Growth Board Director to comment on the question and
points raised. The Panel was informed that the OGNA was not complete. It was important
for the document to be as up to date as possible and further work had been commissioned
to look at further revisions in light of the Covid-19 pandemic and recovery programme and
the process for this was not expected to conclude prior to the end of June 2021 at which
final amendments would be made to the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 consultation documents.
The importance and contribution of the OGNA was accepted as part of a broad base of
evidence supporting the Plan itself which would be consulted upon and needed to be seen
in the context of a suite of such documents. When published, five themes would be set out
in the consultation: Addressing Climate Change, Improving Environmental Quality,
Creating Strong and Healthy Communities, Planning for Sustainable Travel and
Connectivity and Creating Jobs and Providing Homes. Over 30 draft policies were
expected to form the plan of which only two were expected to relate to housing numbers.
Finally, it was expected that final consultation documents would be published in early July
to allow scrutiny and Cabinet processes to take place at each authority.
In discussion, it was felt that the points made by the Panel in its previous recommendation
to the Growth Board that the OGNA should be published as soon as possible remained
valid and had been further emphasised by Ms McIvor. It was agreed that the
recommendation should be reiterated to the Growth Board.
RESOLVED: To recommend to the Growth Board that it ensure the Oxfordshire Growth
Needs Assessment work is published earlier than scheduled along with all supporting
evidence based documents which would allow the maximum amount of time for consultees
to review the document and also ensuring there is a genuine choice of all realistic options
rather than presenting a fait accompli to the consultees responding to the Regulation 18
Part 2 public consultation.

7.

Growth Board response to Scrutiny Panel recommendations

(a)
Growth Board response to Scrutiny Panel recommendations 16 March
2021
The Chair summarised the responses to the Panel’s recommendations to the Growth
Board from 16 March 2021, including the response to Recommendation 2 which set out
how the Growth Board intended to increase the consideration of environmental issues
within the development of the Oxfordshire Plan. At the invitation of the Chair, Stefan
Robinson, Growth Board Manager commented on the strengthening of consideration of
environmental issues within the Growth Board by the representation of the Chair of the
Oxfordshire Environmental Board within the Growth Board Executive Officer Group and
the creation of the new Environment Advisory Group. Work to develop a Local Nature
Partnership, (LNP) for Oxfordshire was progressing and following the Growth Board
Review, it was still intended to offer the LNP a seat on the Growth Board.
(b)
Growth Board response to Task and Finish Group recommendations
The Chair invited Councillor Alex Postan, as Chair of the Task and Finish Group on Private
Investment in Public Infrastructure Projects to summarise the Growth Board’s responses to
the Task and Finish Group’s recommendations as set out in the Agenda. Councillor
Postan commented that the Growth Board’s response to the recommendations had been
generally positive and highlighted the role of private investment in funding future

Page 8

infrastructure as an alternative to borrowing or HM Government funding. He hoped that in
future individual scrutiny committees within each local authority in Oxfordshire would when
considering funding for infrastructure projects explore opportunities for private sector
investment.
Amit Alva, Growth Board Scrutiny Officer informed the Panel that the Infrastructure
Advisory Group would be considering the Task and Finish Group report as agreed by the
Growth Board.
Members of the Panel were also encouraged to submit further topics for consideration as
future Task and Finish Group topics.

8.

Powering Up for the Green Recovery

The Panel considered a report to the Growth Board from Advanced Oxford, titled
‘Powering Up the Green Recovery – Oxfordshire’s role in building a cleaner future’ and a
summary presentation as set out in the Agenda. Sarah Haywood, Managing Director
Advanced Oxford and Ahmed Goga, Director of Strategy and Programmes, OxLEP
introduced the report and highlighted that:












Advanced Oxford was a non-profit membership group for companies and
organisations from a range of sectors with an innovation and science, technology,
engineering, and mathematics focus, (STEM). It undertook research and leadership
activity around issues of importance in order to support the development of the
Oxfordshire ecosystem and to provide insight from the innovation business community
to policy and decision making.
A focus behind the development of the report was to highlight the high quality science
and technology practice that underpinned innovative companies across Oxfordshire
contributing to the green recovery and to highlight opportunities and barriers to green
growth.
The report had identified many positives within Oxfordshire including a supportive
policy environment and a strong university base, but also opportunities and challenges
within the NHS linked post Covid-19 including more innovation around sustainability in
the NHS supply chain.
A series of case studies had been published to supplement the report and provide
examples of companies contributing to green economy and recovery.
Companies that had taken part in the study had identified investment including
investment in green skills as both an enabler and potential barrier to future green
growth.
Recommendations of the report included greater investment from government,
increased growth funding, higher number of investments, investment in skills including
apprenticeships, business development and the need for more innovation spaces
including in City Centre locations.
In considering issues around clean growth it was important to recognise the dynamism
of the green innovation ecosystem within Oxfordshire which included world leading
companies that had invested in the county with a worth of around £1.3bn

The Panel welcomed the report.
In discussion, it was noted that report had identified a need for more innovation and lab
space within the City of Oxford. Notwithstanding the reasons for this, the Panel expressed
some concern that an increase in such space would lead to increases in commuting,

Page 9

particularly by car from the surrounding districts as Oxford itself was unable to
accommodate sufficient new homes. Affordability of housing within the City was also a
factor. It was felt that care needed to be taken to mitigate this as part of the Growth
Board’s future work and strategies which should include a focus towards the promotion of
the full range of sustainable transport options for employment centres.
Links between firms in the innovative sector and the universities in Oxford were noted and
it was also acknowledged that it was not intended to overheat Oxford as an employment
centre. However, the Panel felt it was important to avoid becoming Oxford centric and that
other parts of the county could offer the same quality of innovation and lab space if good
sustainable transport and connectivity could be provided, such as in Bicester and Banbury.
RESOLVED: To recommend to the Growth Board that in its consideration of Advanced
Oxford’s report on Powering Up for the Green Recovery, it considers the Scrutiny Panel’s
feedback set out below. The Board is encouraged to reflect how these views can inform
key future plans and strategies:
1) Future Growth Board work and strategies should consider how any increase in total
office space can remain compatible with the long-term carbon reduction ambitions of
the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision, and the wider need to design any future Oxford city
employment spaces to be car-free and include facilities for sustainable travel
2) There needs to be a balance of focus on areas outside Oxford City along the
knowledge spine within the Oxford- Cambridge Arc to promote the creation and
development of employment space in areas with good rail links to Oxford such as
Bicester and Banbury.
3) There needs to be a focus on sustainable means of transport such as cycle lanes and
routes, light passenger railways and autonomous vehicles when designing new spinout and high-tech spaces. In addition revisiting recommendation 3 made on 16th March
2021 that the Growth Board undertake further work to understand the impact that
changes in local rail services do and may have on modal shift with regards to personal
car use, consideration should be given to the building of new trains stations on existing
lines in areas such as Kidlington- Begbroke-Yarnton.
4) In placemaking, consider designing communities, employment spaces, housing, and
transport options holistically, especially in light of changes to working practices in a
post-pandemic world and how it is likely to reduce levels of commuting in the long
term.

9.

Overview of skills landscape

The Panel considered a report to the Growth Board and supporting presentation that set
out an update on the emerging national skills landscape and the implications for
Oxfordshire’s skills priorities, including the skills required to support the transition to net
zero carbon dioxide emissions. Richard Byard, Director of Business Environment, OxLEP
introduced the report and presentation.
During the Panel’s discussion, a range of views and issues were raised including some
concerns around the availability and quality of apprenticeships and the importance of
adapting and developing skills and skills development to take account of Covid-19 related
and wider societal change. It was felt that there were not enough students in STEM fields

Page 10

coming forward and that it was important to develop less rigid forms of study and skills
development as alternatives to the more formal structure of apprenticeships. Diversity of
leadership was raised as an important contributor towards innovation.
RESOLVED: To recommend to the Growth Board that in noting the Overview of Local
Skills Landscape report it undertakes to actively consider diversity of leadership,
responsible business practices, attracting youth to Science Technology Engineering
Mathematics (STEM) fields, and addressing traditional imbalances such as the underrepresentation of women in STEM based businesses.

10.

Housing and Growth Deal Advisory Group Updates

(a)
Infrastructure Advisory Group update
It was noted that this item had been deferred until the next meeting as no update was
available.
(b)
Housing Advisory Group update
The Panel noted the summary notes of the Housing Advisory Group held on 27 April 2021.
RESOLVED: That the summary notes be noted.
(c)
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Update
The Panel noted the summary notes of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group held on
18 March 2021 and 27 April 2021.
RESOLVED: That the summary notes be noted.

11.

Oxford to Cambridge Arc Update

Andrew Down, Growth Board Director, informed the Panel that a meeting of the Oxford to
Cambridge Arc Leadership Plenary Group was scheduled to take place on Friday 4 June
and it was expected that further information would be given by the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government on its proposed formal ‘Growth Body’ for the Arc.
The Panel was informed that all principal local authorities within Oxfordshire had now
adopted the Oxford to Cambridge Arc Environment Principles as previously discussed by
the Panel and the Growth Board. This was felt to be a positive step which would help
Oxfordshire influence the Oxford to Cambridge Environment Strategy and the subsequent
Oxford to Cambridge Arc Spatial Framework.
The Chair commented whilst the Panel was not in a position to comment on these
expected developments, he wished to reiterate points made previously by the Panel that
local democratic accountability would be fundamental to whatever plans HM Government
had in respect of the Arc Growth Body.
It was requested that further information on the proposed Growth Body be circulated to the
Panel directly after the 4 June meeting. Officers agreed to undertake this.
RESOLVED: That the update be noted.

Page 11

12.

Work programme for the Scrutiny Panel - June 2021

The Panel’s work programme and action log – as set out in the Agenda were considered.
The Chair invited members of the Panel to consider suggesting future agenda items and
also potential subjects for future task and finish group reviews. It was noted that Councillor
Postan had suggested a potential review around modern methods of construction and that
this should be included on the work programme item for the next meeting along with any
other topics suggested.
RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

13.

Dates of next meetings

The Panel noted the dates of scheduled meetings as follows:








Monday 12 July 2021
Monday 13 September 2021
Monday 15 November 2021
Monday 17 January 2022
Tuesday 15 March 2022
Tuesday 31 May 2022
Tuesday 19 July 2022

Continuation of virtual Panel meetings
The Chair referred to the proposal to continue with Panel meetings on a virtual basis.
RESOLVED: That meetings of the Panel continue to be held on a virtual basis.

The meeting closed at 8.30 pm

Page 12

Growth Board response to recommendations of the Growth Board Scrutiny Panel
Recommendations made on 1 June 2021
The Growth Board is requested to provide a response to the recommendations of the Scrutiny Panel for decision at its meeting on 8 June
2021.

Page 13

Recommendation
Recommendation 1: That the Growth Board
ensures that the Oxfordshire Growth Needs
Assessment work is published earlier than
scheduled, along with all supporting evidence
based documents, which would allow the
maximum amount of time for consultees to
review the document and also ensuring there
is a genuine choice of options all of which are
realistic rather than presenting a fait accompli
before responding to the Regulation 18 Part 2
public consultation.

Comment
The Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment (OGNA) is in the final stages of
completion and is programmed to be completed by the time the Board
commence consultation on the Regulation 18 draft Oxfordshire Plan 2050 on
31st July. The consultation will present a genuine range of options. Although
the Board notes the wish of interested parties to view this study in advance
of the consultation it is not possible to meet this wish as all councils are fully
engaged in the final stages of Oxfordshire Plan completion.
The Board recognises the importance of OGNA but believes that the OGNA,
which will offer scenarios for growth for consultation and is therefore the
subject of consultation in its own right, is primarily an important piece of
supporting evidence for the Regulation 18 Oxfordshire Plan as it sets a
context for the policy options that Plan presents. For this reason, the Board
concludes that they are most usefully published and considered together.
The Board also believes that the length of time the consultation will run will
allow interested parties ample time to consider and reflect upon both
documents and understand their implications, an understanding that will be
heightened by consultation workshops on policy themes in the Oxfordshire
Plan.

Agenda Item 4

Recommendation 2: That the Growth Board, in
its consideration of Advanced Oxford’s report
on Powering Up for the Green Recovery,
considers the Scrutiny Panel’s feedback set
out below. The Board is encouraged to reflect

Agree?
No

how these views can inform key future plans
and strategies:
Future Growth Board work and
strategies should consider how any
increase in total office space can remain
compatible with the long-term carbon
reduction ambitions of the Oxfordshire
Startegic Vision, and the wider need to
design any future Oxford city
employment spaces to be car-free and
include facilities for sustainable travel.

ii.

There needs to be a balance of focus on Yes
areas outside Oxford city along the
knowledge spine within the Oxford Cambridge Arc to promote the creation
and development of employment space
in areas with good rail links to Oxford
such as Bicester and Banbury.

Page 14

i.

i.

Now that each of the councils has agreed the Oxfordshire
Strategic Vision, which sets a range of ambitions in this area, we
would expect to see future plans and strategies that align with the
Scrutiny Panel’s view. This is already being done in, for example,
the draft Local Transport and Connectivity plan, which was
consulted on earlier this year. It explains that “Our plan sets out to
achieve this by reducing the need to travel, securing high quality
gigabit connectivity, and by discouraging unnecessary individual
private vehicle use through making active travel, public and
shared transport the natural first choice.” We understand that carfree developments are already being planned for locally in some
areas.

ii.

The forthcoming Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and existing Local Plans
will have a role in addressing this.

iii.

We agree that there is a need to move substantially more towards
sustainable transport modes at pace. The Oxfordshire Strategic
Vision has as ambition that by 2050, we will “have transformed
movement and connectivity within the County and beyond. There
will be greater digital connectivity and physical mobility in and
between places in ways that enhance environmental, social and
economic wellbeing, with an emphasis on sustainable travel,
including walking and cycling.” We would expect that this will help
to inform the emerging Local Transport and Connectivity Plan and
the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy, among other key plans
and strategies.

iv.

As part of the emerging Local Transport and Connectivity Plan,
Oxfordshire County Council will be updating its Oxfordshire Rail
Strategy, which will have the ORCS as its substantial basis. It will
however have other areas added in, including consideration of
future proposals beyond the current ORCS timeline (which broadly

Yes

iii.

There needs to be a focus on
Yes
sustainable means of transport such as
cycle lanes and routes, light passenger
railways and autonomous vehicles when
designing new spin-out and high-tech
spaces.

iv.

In addition revisiting recommendation 3
made on 16th March 2021 to the Growth
Board on the impact that changes in
local rail services do and may have on
modal shift with regards to personal car
use, consideration should be given to
the building of new train stations on

Partial

existing lines in areas such as
Kidlington-Begbroke-Yarnton.
v.

In placemaking, consider designing
communities, employment spaces,
housing, and transport options
holistically, especially in light of changes
to working practices in a post-pandemic
world and how it is likely to reduce
levels of commuting in the long term.

ties in with Local Plans). Whilst there is no current scope to rework
the (now completed) ORCS, there will be opportunities in the
future to expand our evidence base (including looking at modal
shift which is an important factor) to better understand how and
where longer term rail investment is needed to support the
Oxfordshire Plan 2050. Given that the LTCP is still in
development, the Growth Board would ask that the Scrutiny
Panel’s recommendation be considered as part of wider
responses received through its draft consultation processes

Yes

v.

Page 15

Recommendation 3: That the Growth Board in
noting the Overview of Local Skills Landscape
report undertakes to actively consider diversity
of leadership, responsible business practices,
attracting youth to Science Technology
Engineering Mathematics (STEM) fields, and
addressing traditional imbalances such as the
under-representation of women in STEM
based businesses.

Yes

The forthcoming Oxfordshire Plan 2050 and existing Local Plans
will also have a role in addressing this.

Within its own remit and influence, Growth Board member organisations will
have their own policies and programmes with respect to equality and
diversity in recruitment process. The Board notes that supplementary to the
Advanced Oxford Presentation is an additional report available online: “A
Snapshot of Gender Diversity in Oxfordshire Innovation/Knowledge-based
Companies.” The Board is also aware that the OxLEP Innovation Sub Group
has been sponsoring work being undertaken by Oxford Brookes Business
School on how to increase gender diversity in university spin out companies:
Women and Spinouts: A Case for Action at Oxford Brookes University
(hyperlinked). OxLEP has also been supporting a range of other
programmes aimed at increasing diversity across Oxfordshire’s employment
sectors including through the IDEA initiative through Enterprising Oxford and
the High Flyers programme under the Oxfordshire Investment Plan.
Significant progress still needs to be made however within STEM sectors in
particular to reflect the diversity of our communities.

Agenda Item 5

To:

Oxfordshire Growth Board

Date:

19 July 2021

Report of:

Ahmed Goga, Oxfordshire Local Enterprise
Partnership
Stefan Robinson, Oxfordshire Growth Board Manager

Title of Report:

Pathways to a Zero Carbon Oxfordshire Report

Purpose of report: This report draws attention to the recent publication of the
Pathways to a Zero Carbon Oxfordshire Report produced by the Environmental
Change Institute at the University of Oxford, on behalf of twelve Oxfordshire
partners from across the public, private and community sectors. The report
provides a comprehensive and authoritative assessment of routes the County
faces to achieving a net zero carbon Oxfordshire by 2050 or sooner. All
communities and organisations across Oxfordshire have a role to play in
ensuring its recommendations can be delivered at pace, for the benefit of
everyone who lives here.
How this report contributes to the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision Outcomes:
The Oxfordshire Strategic Vision aims to secure a carbon neutral Oxfordshire by
2040, and to leave the natural environment in a better state in which it was found.
The recommendations in this report give due weight to new evidence and
information which will be critical in informing how the Strategic Vision is delivered.
Recommendation: That the Growth Board:
1. Welcomes the report as an authoritative evidence base for informing strategic
planning in Oxfordshire with respect to local zero carbon ambitions.
2. Considers how the report can inform long-term transformational delivery against
the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision.
3. Requests that the emerging Growth Board Environment Advisory Group consider
the outcomes of the report at a future meeting.
4. Requests that each Growth Board member use the report to drive action at pace
within their own organisations in the short and long term.
Appendices:
Appendix 1: Pathways to a Zero Carbon Oxfordshire Report (summary)
Appendix 2: Pathways to a Zero Carbon Oxfordshire Report (full report hyperlinked
only)1

Introduction

1

Full report available at: https://www.eci.ox.ac.uk/research/energy/pathways-to-a-zero-carbonoxfordshire-report.html

Page 16

1. Climate change is at forefront of policy thinking – whether it is for national
Government, local government and the wider public sector or business and local
communities. Everyone has a role to play. The understanding and appreciation of
climate change is more established and accepted and there is recognition of the
need to do more to reduce and eliminate carbon gases as soon as possible to
protect the environment and human activity.
2. Following the publication of the landmark Low Carbon Oxfordshire report in 2014,
the Environmental Change Institute (ECI) at the University of Oxford was tasked
by twelve Oxfordshire partners from across public, private and community sectors
to assess the County’s progress to net zero by 2050 and the pathways which we
will need to develop in order to achieve our goals. The partners included:













OxLEP
Oxfordshire County Council
Cherwell District Council
West Oxfordshire District Council
Oxford City Council
South Oxfordshire District Council
Vale of White Horse District Council
Oxford Brookes University
SSEN
Low Carbon Hub
Greater South East Energy Hub
Oxford Sciences Innovation.

3. The 2014 report aimed to draw attention to the strengths of the low carbon
economy in Oxfordshire, including highlighting clusters of low carbon businesses
and community groups. This report has been critical in informing key policy
developments in Oxfordshire in recent years, including the adopted Oxfordshire
Energy Strategy in 2018/19.2 Working with and funded by the steering group of
partners, the ECI and Bioregional3 has produced a fresh report to take account of
this new context, identifying pathways to a zero carbon Oxfordshire by 2050, in
line with the UK’s commitment to net zero carbon by 2050.
4. The context for a low carbon Oxfordshire is now very different. Climate policy
ambition has been scaled up, as reflected through the Oxfordshire Strategic
Vision, climate declarations / acknowledgements and other emerging local plans
and strategies. Substantial investment has been made in research, innovation and
the deployment of low carbon solutions, but there is a need for collective action
and to act faster in order to achieve our goals. In 2021, the ECI have produced a
Pathways to a Zero Carbon Oxfordshire report (“the Pathways Report”) to reflect
the shifting context, which the Growth Board is asked to consider.
5. In 2021, it no longer makes sense to think about a low carbon economy as a
subset of the broader economy. It is imperative that the entire economy transitions
to zero carbon at speed, not least because progress on climate mitigation has
been insufficient in recent years. Positively however, the report reflects that “The
county is currently on track to achieving the 50% emissions reduction target set
2
3

Oxfordshire Energy Strategy, 2018. OxLEP
See full report for identified contributors, partners and funders.

Page 17

out in the Oxfordshire Energy Strategy, on the basis of substantial achievements
in decarbonising electricity supply and increased energy efficiency.”
6. The Pathways Report therefore addresses how Oxfordshire’s entire economy can
achieve net-zero emissions by 2050, or sooner, highlighting that every person and
sector has a role to play. It provides a comprehensive and robust analysis of the
pathways available for Oxfordshire and represents the most authoritative work to
date in this area. It highlights the enormous challenges ahead in transforming our
energy and transport systems, substantially upgrading our building stock, and
using our land for enhanced carbon sequestration; being ”extremely challenging”
without additional powers locally. It identifies the potential for Oxfordshire to be
leading the way nationally, building on an already thriving economy with a
substantial talent base locally. Progress since 2014 has been uneven, and the
report points to areas where change and investment is urgently needed.
7. The Pathways Report, which was launched at a public webinar on 29 June 2021,
should be considered a primary resource for informing future strategy and policy
developments among Growth Board partners and beyond. This covering report is
not intended to replicate or reflect the breadth of content provided in the full report,
and it operates as a signposting document only. It is recognised that more time
will be needed for partner organisations to fully assess the cross-cutting
implications of this work, and how it can be harnessed, given its very recent
publication.
Pathways to Net Zero
8. The high level aims of the report are set out on page 11, together with the projects
overall scope. As expressed in the document, the report is structured into eight
chapters following the introduction:4









4

Chapter 2: discusses the new context for climate ambition with a focus on
policy at global, national and local levels.
Chapter 3: revisits the 2014 scenarios and examines the latest available data
for Oxfordshire to take stock of recent progress.
Chapter 4: summarises the detailed analysis which follows in later chapters by
setting out three pathways for eradicating emissions from Oxfordshire’s
economy. To illustrate the scale of change and investment required, these are
compared with a ‘Steady Progression’ scenario in which net-zero is not
achieved.
Chapter 5: focuses on Oxfordshire’s innovation ecosystem and the low carbon
sector.
Chapters 6 and 7: examines two sectors where there remains significant
distance to travel: transport and the built environment.
Chapter 8: discusses energy supply with a focus on different technologies for
generating electricity and heat.
Chapter 9: reviews the role of land and carbon sequestration in achieving
climate goals. The report concludes with a discussion of the implications for
local policy and investment, and provides recommendations for a wide range of
stakeholders.

P.11

Page 18

9. This report presents three different routes to a net zero economy for the next three
decades, together with an additional scenario that falls short of the stated climate
aims. The report explains:5


“Our Steady Progression scenario falls well short of stated climate aims and
illustrates the scale of change needed to achieve net-zero.



Societal Transformation is led from the bottom up, with householders
adopting new technologies and practices, and community groups corralling
action.



Technological Transformation, by contrast, relies on systemic changes
driven at the national level, including the deployment of hydrogen for heating
and other technical solutions which require the least change to individual
behaviour.



Oxfordshire Leading the Way mirrors the widespread cultural and behavioural
changes seen in ‘Societal Transformation’ and combines this with high
deployment of new local electricity generation using solar photovoltaics.”

10. The report then provides a substantial and detailed assessment of changes
required across different sectors including: Low carbon innovation, Transport,
Energy efficiency and heating in buildings, Low Carbon Energy, Land use and
carbon sequestration. Recommendations are provided for how local authorities
and other institutions can support progress towards shared climate goals.
Findings of the Report and Next Steps
11. Building on the recent series of commitments made locally and nationally with
respect to carbon reduction, this report provides an authoritative route map to not
only reach net zero carbon by 2050, but for Oxfordshire to lead the way nationally
through transformative change and innovation. As a leading evidence base for
informing the delivery of the recently agreed Oxfordshire Strategic Vision6 and
wider shared programmes of work, the report provides fresh and new information
about the tangible changes needed to affect change. It recognises the diverse
make up of Oxfordshire, its businesses and its communities, and the need for
change to be inclusive.
12. To maximise the impact of this work, the Growth Board and its partners across
Oxfordshire are asked to consider how the conclusions and recommendations
(covered below) can inform future strategic and operational work, with an
emphasis on the identification of collaborative system-wide actions that can place
Oxfordshire firmly on the pathway to a zero carbon future at pace. Each
organisation has a role to play in ensuring Oxfordshire can reach its ambitions in
this area. In developing a response to the recommendations in the Pathways
report, practical steps should be identified which can ensure as wide a
commitment as possible to achieving shared ambitions. This extends beyond
carbon reduction targets to more tangible actions.
13. This approach will need to consider how Oxfordshire’s diverse communities can
be supported in an inclusive way to take action. We must actively recognise and
5
6

P.6
Agreed by Oxfordshire’s six Local Authorities in April 2021.

Page 19

address economic, social and environmental limitations that create barriers to
action, and ensure our work remains relevant and engaging to ensure all
communities have a stake in the future of Oxfordshire. The representative role of
councillors and community groups in this respect is particularly important. In order
to meet the three pathways that can achieve net zero by 2050, the Pathways
report explains that each must involve:7










the substantial expansion of solar generating capacity in Oxfordshire. Large
ground-mounted solar parks are preferred in Technological Transformation, with
others seeing the widespread deployment of rooftop arrays. The business case
for new installations will rely on the falling price of photovoltaic panels and
battery storage, and will face the challenge of geographically varied grid
constraints.
a major programme of retrofit for existing homes and non-domestic buildings, led
by strong and consistent national policy including significant subsidy.
a strict approach to planning, regulation and compliance for new homes and
developments so that they do not result in increased carbon emissions from the
building, transport, or energy sectors.
substantial increases in electricity demand, driven by heat and transport,
requiring grid reinforcement and flexibility provided by various means.
the phase out of gas boilers and fossil-fuelled modes of transport.
a need for innovation in food production to maintain or increase output while
agricultural land makes way for development, and Oxfordshire grows its fair
share of biofuels.
a reduction in overall travel demand.
restoration of ecosystems and natural capital, for enhanced sequestration and
increased biodiversity

Conclusion
14. The Growth Board is requested to welcome the Pathways to a Zero Carbon
Oxfordshire Report as an authoritative evidence base for informing strategic
planning with respect to local zero carbon ambitions, and delivery of the
Oxfordshire Strategic Vision. It is recommended that Pathways report forms part of
the Environment Advisory Group’s agenda for a future meeting, where more
detailed actions can be assessed and recommended. In addition, it is
recommended that action is undertaken at pace within individual organisations to
ensure that ongoing and new work in this area takes account of the Pathways
report and its findings.

Report author

Ahmed Goga, OxLEP
Stefan Robinson, Growth Board Manager
Stefan.robinson@southandvale.gov.uk

7

P.124

Page 20

Pathways
Pathways
toto
a zero
a zero
carbon
carbon
Oxfordshire
Oxfordshire
2021June 2021

Page 21

eci

Summary
Tackling climate change has become an urgent priority
for governments, businesses and citizens around the

Page 22

world. In 2019, the UK Parliament passed legislation
committing to a target of net-zero carbon emissions
by 2050. In response, local authorities around the
country have been scaling up their ambitions to tackle
climate change. In Oxfordshire, all local authorities
have acknowledged and responded to the climate
emergency, and are developing plans to achieve netzero carbon emissions by 2050 or sooner.

Steady
Progression

Societal
Transformation

Technological
Transformation

Oxfordshire
Leading the Way

Oxfordshire has made rapid progress in reducing carbon emissions
over the last decade, and is on track to achieve the target agreed by
its local authorities of a 50% reduction by 2030 (from 2008 levels).
While its GDP grew by 34% between 2011 and 2018, its usage of
energy remained roughly constant, and CO2 emissions fell by 17%.
This report addresses the question of how Oxfordshire can sustain
the momentum of the last decade to achieve net-zero emissions.
While substantial progress has been made to decouple economic
growth from carbon emissions, driven by cleaner electricity supply
and increased energy efficiency, there remains a significant way
to go to decarbonise transport, reduce reliance on fossil fuels for
heating, and protect and enhance carbon stored in the natural
environment. Maintaining the same rate of emissions reduction
in Oxfordshire will require relatively greater investment locally,
in building retrofit, cleaner heating systems and electric vehicles;
and cultural and behavioural changes such as active travel, dietary
changes and reduced energy demand.
Our analysis shows that there are different routes to net-zero, and
in presenting scenarios for the next three decades, we outline three
distinct pathways to eradicating emissions from the economy.

2

The second half of the report analyses the implications of net-zero
for different sectors of the economy, as follows:

GDP +34%

Dwellings +8%
Energy demand +1%

CO2 –17%
50% CO2 by 2030 –17%

Page 23

Figure 1: Relative change in
GDP, number of dwellings,
CO2 emissions and energy
demand (2011=1)

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Our Steady Progression scenario falls well short of stated
climate aims, and illustrates the scale of change needed to
achieve net-zero. Societal Transformation is led from the
bottom up, with householders adopting new technologies and
practices, and community groups corralling action. Technological
Transformation, by contrast, relies on systemic changes driven at
the national level, including the deployment of hydrogen for heating
and other technical solutions which require the least change to
individual behaviour. Finally, Oxfordshire Leading the Way mirrors
the widespread cultural and behavioural changes seen in Societal
Transformation, and combines this with high deployment of new
local electricity generation using solar photovoltaics.
Which pathway Oxfordshire will take depends on a variety of
factors, including technological innovation, macro-economic
trends following COVID-19, public support, changing social norms
and behaviours, and policy decisions taken at the local, national
and international levels. While some factors are outside of local
control, businesses, policy makers and residents in Oxfordshire
have a crucial role to play in innovating, investing, strategising and
implementing the changes needed for net-zero.

3

Low carbon innovation: Oxfordshire’s low-carbon sector is thriving.
Two of four national energy systems demonstrator projects are
based in Oxfordshire, and its automotive sector continues to lead
the way on innovation for autonomous vehicles, electric powertrain
development and battery technologies. The University of Oxford
has successfully generated 30 new cleantech spinout companies
alone, with many more establishing a presence within the county
and pioneering new technologies to address the challenges created
by the climate emergency. The low-carbon sector is also thriving
alongside high-tech industries, as community groups and SMEs
develop solutions to reduce carbon emissions through alternative
business models and the sharing economy.
Transport: Like the UK as a whole, Oxfordshire has struggled
to reduce emissions from transport, despite successes such as
accelerated uptake of electric vehicles in the county and increased
cycling in Oxford City. There remains significant potential for more
widespread walking and cycling, as the transition to net-zero cannot
rely on electric vehicles alone. The key components of pathways
to decarbonise transport are ‘Avoid, Shift, Improve’. Switching
to electric is an example of ‘Improve’, while telecommuting can
be a way to ‘Avoid’ travel. A ‘shift’ to local, active travel can help
increase footfall on local high streets and ease congestion as
well as improving health. There is an urgent need for improved
infrastructure for public transport and active travel; controlling and
charging for parking; supporting digital connectivity that reduces
the need to travel; requiring new developments to be compact and
walkable; and encouraging the uptake of zero emissions vehicles.

Page 24

Energy efficiency and heating in buildings: All pathways to
net-zero require profound and widespread changes to the built
environment. This includes upgrading the energy efficiency
performance of the majority of buildings across Oxfordshire,
and replacing heating systems which rely on fossil fuels (gas
and oil), with low and zero carbon technologies (heat pumps,
biomass, hydrogen). The markets for goods and services to create
and maintain low-carbon buildings are small and immature. A
much stronger focus on market creation and development is
needed if existing technologies are to be deployed at the scale
and quality required. Not only does this imply a need for a skilled
workforce of installers, advisors and other intermediaries, but also
regulated minimum standards to create demand, supported by
a much more rigorous system of compliance-checking. There is
a need to simultaneously stimulate demand and supply for high
quality products and services to reduce emissions from the built
environment.
Low Carbon Energy: Solar energy is Oxfordshire’s greatest low
carbon energy generation resource with the county already
contributing more than 3% of the total UK solar photovoltaic
capacity, more than double its share of population and land area.
There is significant potential to expand local solar PV electricity
generation. Each of our net-zero pathways includes substantial
deployment: the most ambitious sees installed capacity expanded
by up to 10 times. Increasing local renewable electricity generation
is needed in response to an expected doubling of electricity demand
due to the electrification of heating, transportation and high
population growth, ensuring Oxfordshire takes a leading role in the
decarbonisation of the electricity sector nationally. To maximise
local benefits, Oxfordshire should develop local energy partnerships
and the proven appetite for community energy.

4

As with all intermittent decentralised generation, high penetration
can have significant impact on local networks with flexibility and
data key to maximising system utilisation at the lowest cost to
users. Oxfordshire is in the enviable position of hosting two national
demonstrator projects (Project LEO and ESO) and a wealth of
knowledge in this area which it must exploit.

Page 25

Land use and carbon sequestration: Oxfordshire is dominated by
intensive agriculture, with farmland occupying 70% of the county.
With 14% being built-up, there is only 9% woodland and 7% other
semi-natural habitats. We estimate that currently around 316,000
tonnes of CO2 are sequestered each year (after accounting for at
least 100,000 t lost annually when land is cleared for development);
a small fraction of the 4 Mt produced through use of fossil fuels.
However, around 85 Mt CO2 are stored in the county’s soils and
vegetation and it is vital to protect and enhance this carbon store
well as restoring soils, woodland and other ecosystems to enhance
sequestration further.
Land is a finite and precious resource, and our scenarios reveal
trade-offs between demand for land for food, bioenergy, solar,
housing, carbon sequestration and biodiversity. For example, it
would take 37–56% of Oxfordshire’s land to produce the quantity
of bioenergy envisaged in the National Grid scenarios in order to
provide the ‘negative emissions’ (via BECCS, i.e. bioenergy with
carbon capture and storage) needed to reach net-zero. Stringent
energy demand reduction can reduce the need for such negative
emission options. Shifting to a lower meat diet also has a vital role
to play in freeing up farmland for sequestration.

Smart land-use planning with the participation of all stakeholders
is essential in order to minimise trade-offs and maximise the
substantial co-benefits that could be achieved through welldesigned nature-based solutions, including a mix of ecosystem
restoration and regenerative agriculture that enhances soil carbon
storage, as well as integrating high quality green infrastructure into
new developments. The proposed new Local Nature Partnership
will have a critical role in developing a Natural Capital Plan for
Oxfordshire that meets targets for both net-zero and Nature
Recovery, as well as securing livelihoods for farmers and health and
wellbeing co-benefits for local communities.

Conclusions and recommendations
All net-zero pathways will involve:
■ the expansion of solar generating capacity in Oxfordshire
■ a major programme of retrofit for existing homes and nondomestic buildings
■ prioritising climate goals when planning for new homes and
developments
■ substantial increases in electricity demand, driven by heat and
transport, requiring grid reinforcement and flexibility provided by
various means
■ the phase out of gas boilers and fossil-fuelled modes of transport
■ a need for innovation in food production to maintain or increase
output while agricultural land makes way for development, and
Oxfordshire grows its fair share of biofuels.
■ protection and restoration of ecosystems and natural capital, for
enhanced sequestration and increased biodiversity.

5

Net-zero targets: While each local authority in Oxfordshire has set
an aspirational date for area-wide net-zero emissions, some have
chosen 2050 (County Council, West Oxfordshire DC), Vale of White
Horse DC is aiming for 2045, Oxford City council for 2040 and others
2030 (Cherwell DC, South Oxfordshire DC). These differences partly
reflect local circumstances, such as differences between urban and
rural districts, but they have substantial implications for policy,
investment and local action.

Although ambitious targets can be vital for driving policy change
and investment, our models suggest that achieving the earlier
targets will be extremely challenging, especially without significant
devolution of additional powers to local authorities. However, there
are additional ways to demonstrate leadership on climate change as
well as target setting, such as in using planning powers to develop
policies that align with net-zero carbon developments by applying
15-minute neighbourhood principles, implementing active travel
infrastructure, and including ecosystem restoration.

Shattering myths

Page 26

0

6

“We should plant
trees to offset our
emissions”

“We need a more
skilled & qualified
workforce”

“Electric vehicles
are coming to
save us”

“Net-zero can be
achieved by 2030”

“Fossil fuels are
needed for
economic growth”

“It all comes down
to individual
behaviours”

… we need to protect
existing trees, but
planting new trees
can remove only
a small fraction of
current emissions,
and we need to
restore a mix of native
ecosystems to reverse
biodiversity loss.

… the skills challenge
is not just a supply
problem, we also
need demand for
skills, driven by
markets for zerocarbon solutions.

… switching to
cleaner fuels is
insufficient for netzero. We also need to
reduce our transport
demand and
complete more of our
journeys by walking,
cycling, public and
shared transport.

… without relying
on offsets, the scale
of investment,
technological and
lifestyle change,
without national
policy support, is
unrealistic.

… renewable
energy and other
zero-carbon
solutions represent
opportunities for
more efficient use
of resources. Unlike
spending on fossil
fuels, investment can
be kept local.

… while lifestyle
change and
sustainable choices
will be crucial, these
are influenced by
infrastructures,
systems of provision
and social norms.
Reshaping these
requires action from
myriad actors

Co-benefits: If the phase-out of carbon emissions is managed
effectively, a variety of economic, social and environmental
benefits can be achieved. These include the creation of highskilled, well paid jobs in the zero carbon sector; creating cohesive
and desirable places to live by empowering local communities
and diverse individuals to drive action; and cutting air pollution.
Restoring habitats, providing urban green infrastructure and shifting
to regenerative agriculture can support wildlife while delivering
ecosystem services such as natural flood management and urban
cooling, and providing health and wellbeing benefits for local
people.

Page 27

COVID-19 recovery: More than 1000 people in Oxfordshire have
lost their lives to COVID-19, and the pandemic has had a severely
detrimental impact on nearly all residents and businesses in
Oxfordshire. In the short term, energy demand and carbon
emissions have fallen sharply. As the economy gets back on its feet,
it is imperative that the sustainable practices adopted by businesses
and individuals, such as telecommuting and active travel, are
supported and sustained.
Embodied carbon: This report focuses on direct emissions (Scope
1) and those associated with purchased energy (Scope 2). However,
there are emissions ‘embodied’ in the goods and services imported
into the county, including the materials used for constructing
new housing, the batteries used in electric vehicles, and food and
biofuels that must be produced elsewhere when land in the county
is used for carbon-reducing activities such as planting trees. In
the next decade, the priority must be on reducing Scope 1 and
2 emissions. However, as the emissions associated with energy
and transport usage reduce over time, the relative proportion of
embodied emissions will grow.

7

Climate change will need to be increasingly factored into
procurement decisions and supply chain governance, whether
those are major investments in construction materials for new
homes, or everyday purchases such as food. A shift towards a
circular economy based on reducing waste and unnecessary
consumption will play a large part in reducing the embodied
emissions imported in material goods.

Page 28

Infrastructure: The forthcoming update to the Oxfordshire
Infrastructure Strategy is due to include climate related indicators
when evaluating the need for strategic infrastructure. While it
goes without saying that all investments in local infrastructure
should be compatible with net-zero, there is also a need to
systematically review the role of existing infrastructure in ‘locking
in’ high carbon practices, and plan for change. More granular data
on demand patterns will help enable the more efficient use of
existing infrastructure. There is a need to expand the definition
of infrastructure to include Oxfordshire’s building stock, and
to rank retrofit as a strategic priority alongside electricity grid
reinforcement and the installation of new solar generation. Green
infrastructure should also be integrated into the strategy, as it
has potential to deliver multiple benefits for climate, health and
biodiversity.

8

Photo: Brendan Doody

Financing the transition: Local authorities have experienced
significant funding cuts in the last decade, and COVID-19 has led
to further financial woes. While there is uncertainty over the future
of core funding for programmes to drive down emissions, there
are other options for raising investment in zero-carbon solutions.
These include expanding the Low Carbon Hub’s model for raising
community investment; following West Berkshire Council’s example
of launching a Green Bond, and developing projects for investment
by the Oxfordshire Local Government Pension Fund.

Partnership working: Stakeholders in the low carbon sector have
a strong record of collaborating to attract investment and drive
forward innovation. There is potential to expand networks such as
Oxfordshire Greentech, Community Action Group network and Low
Carbon Hub CIC. The Oxfordshire Growth Board recently proposed
the creation of a new environment advisory group which was
supported by all local authority leaders. If properly resourced, this
could drive forward the agenda set out in the Oxfordshire Energy
Strategy, and begin to develop an action plan to meet climate
goals. It is hoped that the evidence and modelling in this report
will directly inform this advisory group, as well as the work of the
proposed Local Nature Partnership.

Authors
Sam Hampton, Lewis Knight, Hannah Scott, Hannah
Budnitz, Gavin Killip, Scot Wheeler, Alison Smith and
Nick Eyre

Acknowledgements
This report has been written by the University of
Oxford’s Environmental Change Institute (ECI) and
Bioregional, with support from individuals from the
Transport Studies Unit and Engineering Department.

Page 29

This report has been funded by a consortium of key
stakeholders in Oxfordshire. The team would like to
thank all those who offered advice, contributions and
comments to this project. In particular, we are grateful
to the members of the Steering Group: Ahmed Goga
(OxLEP), Sarah Gilbert (Oxfordshire County Council),
Sam Thomas (Cherwell DC), Vanessa Scott (West
Oxfordshire DC), Tim Sadler (Oxford City Council),
Michelle Wells (South and Vale DCs), David Hartley
(Oxford Brookes), Stephen Brown (OxLEP and Oxford
Brookes), Steve Atkins (SSEN), Barbara Hammond
(Low Carbon Hub), Maxine Narburgh (GSEEH), Lisa
Bedwell (Oxford Sciences Innovation), Nick Mottram
(Oxfordshire County Council). In addition, we also
value the comments and suggestions from both Stuart
Wilkinson (Oxford University), and Stefan Robinson
(Oxfordshire Growth Board). We are also grateful to
Alexandra Capita and Heather Waller, who provided
administrative support to the project.

9

© Environmental Change Institute, 2021
Environmental Change Institute, OUCE,
South Parks Road, Oxford OX1 3QY

www.eci.ox.ac.uk

eci

Agenda Item 6

To:

Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report:

Oxfordshire Plan 2050- Endorsement of Regulation 18 Part
two Plan for consultation

Date:

19 July 2021

Report of

Giles Hughes CEO West Oxfordshire DC and Senior
Responsible Officer for Oxfordshire Plan 2050

Status:

Open

Executive Summary and Purpose:
To consider the approval of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Regulation 18 Part 2 Consultation
Document (the consultation document), which sets out both a range of planning policy
options and a series of spatial strategy options for Oxfordshire.
When complete the Oxfordshire Plan will provide a high-level spatial planning framework
for Oxfordshire up to 2050 and will be a statutory planning document supplementing Local
Plans. The Oxfordshire Plan aims to be transformational and occupies new policy areas,
such as on climate change, environmental betterment, health impacts and zero carbon
transport. It has now reached the Regulation 18 Part 2 stage where approval from district
councils is needed for consultation.
How this report contributes to the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision Outcomes:
The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 plays a key part of the delivery of the Strategic Vision for
Oxfordshire by setting out key policies for Oxfordshire that support the outcomes set out
in the Vision.

Recommendation:
That the Growth Board note and endorse the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Regulation 18 Part
2 Consultation Document and ask partner district councils to approve the draft plan for
consultation

Appendices: None

Page 30

www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org

Background
The Partnership
1) The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Oxfordshire Plan) is being produced by the five local
planning authorities (city and district councils) in Oxfordshire, working in close
partnership with Oxfordshire County Council and OxLEP. The city and district
councils formally approve each key stage.
2) A core Oxfordshire Plan Team (the Plan Team) team was established to coordinate the production of the Oxfordshire Plan, working closely with officers at
the councils.
3) Development of the consultation document and evidence base has also involved
the Growth Board’s Oxfordshire Plan Members Advisory Group, the Oxfordshire
Heads of Planning Group, a technical Liaison Group, and specialist officer input
throughout the plan-making process.
Progress to date
4) The 2018 Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal included a commitment by the
Oxfordshire Councils to prepare a Joint Statutory Spatial Plan (The Oxfordshire
Plan) alongside Government investment of £215m for affordable housing and
infrastructure improvements.
5) The first major consultation on the Oxfordshire Plan (covering Plan vision,
objectives, aspirations and possible spatial typologies) took place in February
and March 2019 (Regulation 18 Part 1), and then a Vision for the Oxfordshire
Plan was developed in response to the consultation responses.
6) An extensive evidence base was also commissioned, and Sustainability
Appraisal scoping and ongoing testing has been undertaken
7) The Plan Team undertook a number of further consultation steps including
initiating a ‘Call for Ideas’ (promoted development sites and other project
proposals), stakeholder events and engagement with young people.
8) The Plan Team also considered the relationship with other plans, strategies, and
strategic influencers. For example, the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS),
Oxfordshire’s Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS), Local Transport and Connectivity
Plan (LTCP) and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS).
9) The Plan Team also developed Oxfordshire’s Strategic Vision, intended to
provide a strategic framework for a number of Oxfordshire wide documents, to
enable the closer coordination of planning, transport, infrastructure, and
economic development, amongst others. This considered the nature of ‘Good
Growth’ in Oxfordshire, sits alongside the Oxfordshire Plan Vision, was prepared
& approved by the collective leadership of the Oxfordshire Growth Board and has
been agreed by all Oxfordshire councils.
10) The diagram or map below shows the relationship between the Strategic Vision,
the Oxfordshire Plan and other strategies and plans.

Page 31

11) The Plan Team has also undertaken Duty to Co-operate scoping and continuous
engagement with neighboring Councils. This has included the 6 Oxfordshire
Councils and OxLEP, together with authorities adjoining Oxfordshire, including
those in the Thames Valley, Buckinghamshire, and Swindon. It has also included
the ‘prescribed bodies’, such as Natural England, Environment Agency, Historic
England and NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups.
12) Finally, the Plan Team have also updated the Local Development Scheme, which
sets out the key forward dates, prepared a detailed Equalities Statement and a
new Statement of Community Involvement, which sets out the basis for
engagement with the community, particularly how to engage using online’
arrangements and ensuring that those in ‘remote’ communities-both physically
and demographically- are given the opportunity to engage.
Developing the Plan Policies
13) The Oxfordshire Plan consultation document comprises four key elements:
 Introduction and Context
 Plan Vision and Objectives
 Plan Themes and Policies
 Strategic Spatial Options
14) The consultation document describes 32 Policy Options that will be tested at the
Regulation 18 Part 2 stage. The consultation document sets out why options are
included, and what the challenges are.
15) Policies for the Oxfordshire Plan were identified following the Regulation 18-Part
1 process. These have been subsequently expanded through consideration of
evidence, such as the Sustainability Appraisal, into new policy proposals judged
appropriate for consideration at the Oxfordshire level.
16) The proposed policies cover strategic, Oxfordshire-wide policy options where
issues are related to more than one District. The document aims to set a longterm, overarching, and high-level spatial planning framework for Oxfordshire for
the period up to 2050. Policies are in some case establishing an
enabling/framework, others are more detailed. Others will be used in formulation
of more detailed Local Plan policies.

Page 32

17) Our development approach is set out under 5 themes that will create a County
wide long-term framework. 32 strategic policies are proposed across five themes:
 Theme One: Addressing climate change.
 Theme Two: Improving environmental quality.
 Theme Three: Creating strong and healthy communities.
 Theme Four: Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity.
 Theme Five: Creating jobs and providing homes.
18) Under these themes county-wide policies are being proposed, including policies
on climate change, environmental net gain, health impact assessment and urban
renewal due to the retail changes impacting on our town and city centres,
business site intensification and high design standards for new development.
19) The development of the Oxfordshire Plan is aligned with the development of the
Local Transport and Connectivity Plan and the OxIS infrastructure assessment.
The Infrastructure Delivery Plan that will go with the Oxfordshire Plan will be
based on the update of OxIS. This will be completed before the Oxfordshire Plan
Regulation 19 stage.
20) The Oxfordshire Plan will also have a Monitoring Framework at the Regulation
19 stage that will also be aligned with the OXIS monitoring framework.
21) The policy options consulted upon at Regulation 18 Part 2 will be turned into final
proposals by the Regulation 19 stage.
Developing the Strategic Spatial Options
21) The Oxfordshire Plan will also establish housing and economic growth
requirements to 2050 and broad locations for growth. The consultation document
proposes five spatial options for the distribution of growth to be tested through
the Regulation 18 Part 2 consultation. The process for moving from Regulation
18 to Regulation 19 is set out in the Oxfordshire Plan.
22) The five spatial strategy options identified for consultation are:
 Option 1: Focus on opportunities at larger settlements and planned growth
locations.
 Option 2: Focus on Oxford-led growth.
 Option 3: Focus on opportunities in sustainable transport corridors and at
strategic transport hubs.
 Option 4: Focus on strengthening business locations.
 Option 5: Focus on supporting rural communities.
23) The adopted local plans already establish the distribution of significant growth to
2031/35/36 and are taken account of in the spatial strategy and proposed spatial
options.
24) At this stage we are not identifying individual spatial options that can necessarily
accommodate all of Oxfordshire’s growth over the next 30 years, nor identifying
any one of options taken in isolation as the eventual long-term spatial strategy.
At the Oxfordshire Plan regulation 19 stage when a Draft Plan is published broad
locations for growth will be identified, with Local Plans being the mechanism for
final site allocations. The eventual long-term spatial strategy is anticipated to
draw from all the five strategic spatial options at this next stage.

Page 33

Level of new growth
25) We have undertaken an assessment of the growth needs of Oxfordshire up to
2050, the Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment (OGNA). This will be published
alongside the consultation document, given its important role as an evidence
document. It sets out three scenarios for housing need. One that is based on the
Government's Standard Methodology, a mid-range option and higher one that
factors in additional economic growth.
26) The decision on a proposed level of growth will be taken around December 2021
to inform the draft Plan at the Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 19 stage. In setting
the level of planned housing provision, the OGNA will be one of a number of
factors considered.
27) Our strategy seeks to take account of the five District Local Plans that have been
adopted in Oxfordshire and take account of the committed growth in each of the
Districts up to 2031-2036, totalling circa 75,000 houses. The consultation
document therefore clarifies that the housing need assessment is just a starting
point, the current Local Plans growth up to 2031, 2035 and 2036 have to be taken
into account and this leaves a smaller ‘residual’ figure, of new development to
be planned for in the Oxfordshire Plan.
The relationship with the Oxford-Cambridge Arc
28) The consultation document also includes a section on the relationship with the
Oxford to Cambridge Arc. Our aspiration is for our work on the Oxfordshire Plan
2050 to strongly inform and influence government’s thinking on the Arc Spatial
Framework.
29) MHCLG have announced the development of a Spatial Framework for the Arc,
to take place in stages:
 Policy Statement – February 2021 (MHCLG announced a focus on
brownfield land, new settlements, and climate change)
 Vision consultation – Summer 2021
 Options consultation - Spring 2022
 Draft Framework consultation – Autumn 2022
30) The Oxfordshire Plan should, we hope help ensure that Oxfordshire has a strong
voice in the development of the ARC Spatial Framework and that our interests
are taken into account. Decisions on the development of the Arc Spatial
Framework will also feed into the site assessment that is to be undertaken as
part of the work to prepare the Regulation 19 draft Plan.
Accompanying documents
31) Several documents have been provided to be available when considering
approving the Consultation Document. These include:





An updated Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)
A report on Duty to Cooperate.
Statement of Common Ground. (NPPF requirement, para 27)
Equalities Statement

Page 34

32) There are also three independent studies that are being made available to inform
the decision to proceed to consultation:
 Sustainability Appraisal (SA)
 Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA)
 The Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment (OGNA)
33) The background papers for this report shows the extensive evidence base,
reports and studies that will be published as part of the evidence base at the start
of the consultation period.
34) This includes an updated Local Development Scheme that sets out all the
forward dates for the completion of the Oxfordshire Plan.
Consultation Period
35) The consultation is to begin on 30th July 2021 for ten weeks, up to 8th October
2021. At the Regulation 18 Part 2 stage we have discretion as to the length of
time the consultation period lasts and, bearing in mind that the consultation runs
across the holiday period a longer consultation than we might otherwise propose
seems sensible.
36) As noted earlier the purpose of this consultation is to seek public views and test
the options presented in the consultation document. Councillors are requested to
engage with the consultation process once it begins rather than looking to answer
the questions posed before the consultation begins.
37) We have planned for an online engagement process, reflecting both the
uncertainties caused by COVID and the advantages of using this method of
engagement with, for example younger people.
Website
38) The Oxfordshire Plan 2050 has a website https://oxfordshireplan.org/ where the
consultation document and supporting documentation will be placed. The
website will be the key tool for the engagement during the consultation period
and will link to the commissioned Oxfordshire Openthought website that will be
the dedicated portal for the consultation.
39) The website will contain:









Overview text about the Oxfordshire Plan, stage reached and consultation
purpose.
A consultation response form, including a series of questions included.
A summary leaflet.
A downloadable Regulation 18 Part 2 consultation document.
Links to enable the ability to access the key accompanying documents
that the Councils will receive.
Links to the supporting evidence including the Sustainability Appraisal
(SA) and the Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA).
A link to the OGNA report
Links to secondary evidence such as the Local Transport & Connectivity
Plan (LTCP) and the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS), which
supports the Oxfordshire Plan, but which is being consulted upon
separately.

Page 35




Text confirming that the County Minerals and Waste Plan is separate.
A download form for proposals to be submitted by site promoters.

40) All partner councils will be asked to promote the consultation through their own
websites with links.
Online events for which dates are being confirmed






District based online seminars (webinars): 2 per district, the first to take
place in 3rd week of August (commencing 16th), the second to take place
in 3rd week of September (commencing 20th).
A webinar with the Council for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE) date confirmed as 19th August.
Several specialist webinars covering Environment, Business and
Developers. Each of these is to take place in the week beginning Tuesday
31st August. The partners will together draw up a list of invitees.
Two OxLEP hosted business events, one w/c 19th July and one in midSeptember
A webinar with Thames Valley Chamber of Commerce on July 6th

The future timetable
41) The scale of the work undertaken at the Regulation 18 Part 2 stage puts the plan
in a good position to meet the future timetable that was agreed with MHCLG in
February 2021.
42) We plan to reach:
Stage

Timeline

Scrutiny Meetings

8th- 15th July 2021

Cabinet/ Executive Meetings

19th- 22nd July 2021

Second Regulation 18
Consultation(options)

30th July - September 2021

Regulation 19 Consultation
(draft plan)

May - June 2022

Submission

September 2022

Examination

November/December 2022

Inspectors Report

February/March 2023

Adoption

May/June 2023

Monitoring

From adoption onwards

Page 36

Legal Implications
43) Legal advice on both the Consultation Document and the Strategic Vision is
being sought with the intention that this will be available to councils when they
consider the Plan.

Other Implications
44) None arising from this report

Conclusion
45) The Regulation 18 (Part 2) consultation is the next important step in the
delivery of the Oxfordshire Plan.
47) The district councils are being asked to formally approve the Oxfordshire Plan
Regulation 18 Part 2 document for consultation by adopting the following draft
recommendations
i. To approve the Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 (Part 2) consultation document
for public consultation as attached; and
ii. To authorise the (appropriate officer) to make any necessary editorial
corrections and minor amendments to the documents, and to agree the final
publication style, in liaison with the (Relevant) Cabinet Member/Portfolio
Holder and subject to agreement with their counterparts in the other four
partner Local Planning Authorities.
48) This reports recommendation requests the Growth Board to note and support
the Regulation 18 (Part 2) Plan consultation document and to endorse it for
approval by the district councils.

Page 37

Background Papers
Evidence Reports being published alongside the consultation document at Reg
18 Part 2 stage.
Accompanying Overview Report
The Reg 18 (Part two) Consultation Document
Statement of Community Involvement
Duty to Co-operate Statement
Statement of Common Ground
Equalities Statement
Published separately: Local Development Scheme update
Key Evidence
Sustainability Appraisal (SA)
Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA)
Oxfordshire Growth Needs Assessment (OGNA)
Secondary Evidence
Transport and Connectivity
Water Cycle Study (Phase 1) incorporating SFRA
Health Impact Assessment
Climate Change Report
Natural Capital Work
Nature Recovery Network
Circular Economy
Settlement Potential (incl. Urban Capacity)
Infrastructure OxIS phase 1

Report Author:

Adrian Colwell: Lead Consultant

Contact information: Adrian.colwell@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Page 38

Agenda Item 7

To:

Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report:

Renaming the Growth Board

Date:

19 July 2021

Report of:

Andrew Down, Oxfordshire Growth Board Director

Executive Summary and Purpose:
As invited by the Growth Board at its meeting on 8 June 2021, this report
summarises the steps required to be undertaken to change the name of the
Board. The report also presents the opportunity to resolve to adopt a new name,
should the voting membership of the Board wish to do so.
How this report contributes to the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision Outcomes:
It is important that the name under which the current Growth Board operates
remains compatible with the Strategic Vision for the county and suitably
articulates its purpose.
Recommendation:
1. That the Growth Board considers whether it wishes to adopt a new name,
and if agreeing so, selects a new name and authorises the Director to
make consequent changes to the Terms of Reference.
2. Notes that an implementation period will be required to update all
relevant webpages, documents, and templates.

Introduction
1. One of the recommendations emerging from the review of the Growth Board’s
operating arrangements undertaken during 2019 was to consider a change of
name, to better reflect the evolution of work since the Board was formed and
named in 2014.1 Many respondents to the review felt that the Board’s name
could better reflect its role and function, which is to coordinate local efforts to
manage economic, housing and infrastructure development in a way that is
inclusive and maximises local social and environmental benefits.2 This paper
provides the Board with the opportunity to change its name.
Findings from the review
2. Emerging from the 2019 review were several suggestions for renaming the
Growth Board to better reflect its current or possible future role and function,
1
2

Concluding report presented to the Growth Board in January 2020.
Growth Board Terms of Reference, 2020.

Page 39

www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org

whilst a minority wished for its name to remain the same. To those who
considered the Board to be a wide-ranging forum considering a cross-section of
issues, the Oxfordshire Partnership or Vision Oxfordshire were considered
appropriate titles. Others suggested that sustainability should be in the title,
alongside planning, infrastructure and / or development. Alongside numerous
requests to remove “Growth” from the title (on the basis it implies that growth
takes priority over other interests), the “Board” element of the title was also
highlighted as inappropriate, given that it rarely takes decisions.
3. Extensive discussion has taken place among members of the Growth Board, and
the name The Future Oxfordshire Partnership has emerged as a wellsupported option.
Financial Implications
4. Any change to the Growth Board’s name can be managed within existing
budgets, though time will be required to implement any changes. Additionally,
officer resource will be required to update a range of existing documents, web
pages and templates.
Legal Implications
5. On occasions where decisions are made by the Growth Board, they should be
made by a majority voting amongst the six local authority representatives with a
quorum requirement of four. The Growth Board’s Monitoring Officer has advised
that a formal decision by each member council is not required for a change of
name. This is because, under the Terms of Reference for the Board, changing
the name does not constitute a change of the Joint Committee’s powers or
functions which if that was the case, would require each constituent authority to
agree (General Principles Para 14.1). Officers therefore consider that a change
of name is a matter which can be resolved by the Growth Board itself at its
meeting on 19 July 2021. Any name change would be reflected in the Terms of
Reference.
Other Implications
6. The Growth Board has developed a profile in its seven years of operation that
includes a strong online presence through search engines and social media, as
well as recognition across the region and nationally. Changing the name will
require a coordinated transition period which may have a short term negative
impact on the Board’s profile whilst the name is updated and communicated.
7. Although it is not yet clear what the final form of any new institutions in the Arc
will be, Growth Boards appear likely to be building blocks in HM Government’s
model, and it seems probable that national government and Arc documents will
continue to refer generically to “growth boards” for the time being at least. This
terminology is therefore unlikely to disappear altogether even if Oxfordshire has
adopted a new name.

Page 40

Conclusion
8. The Growth Board is asked to consider whether it wishes to adopt a new name,
and if agreeing so, selects a new name also.

Report Author:

Andrew Down, Director

Contact information:

andrew.down@southandvale.gov.uk

Page 41

Agenda Item 8a

To:

Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report:

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Progress Report –
Year 3, Quarter 4

Date:

19 July 2021

Report of

Paul Staines: Interim Head of Programme

Status:

Open

Executive Summary and Purpose:
The purpose of this report is to update the Growth Board on progress at the end of Year 3
(2020/21) with the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal (the Deal).
The report provides a summary of the following strands of the Deal.
• Housing from Infrastructure Programme
• Affordable Housing programme
• Oxfordshire Plan 2050
• Productivity
The last quarterly report to the Board committed to the inclusion of a comprehensive update
of governance for the Deal and this is included in this report.
This report provides a brief overview of progress with the Productivity strand of the Deal. The
Board will be aware that the fourth strand of the Deal, Productivity, is reported in greater
detail to the OxLEP Board.
Finally, Oxfordshire County Council, as the Accountable Body, provide a separate assurance
statement, detailing the financial position of the Growth Deal elsewhere on this agenda.
Recommendation:
That the Growth Board notes the progress as at Quarter 4, 2020/21 towards the Oxfordshire
Housing and Growth Deal.
Appendices: None

Housing from Infrastructure programme
1) The Homes from Infrastructure Programme (HfI) is a £150m investment in
strategic infrastructure to support the acceleration of already planned
housing in Oxfordshire.

Page 42

www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org

2) The HfI programme has two aspects.
• Firstly, the commitment to spend £30m per annum over 5 years on
named strategic infrastructure projects, identified as accelerators for
planned housing growth in Oxfordshire.
• Secondly that this infrastructure expenditure will then accelerate 6,549
planned homes that might not otherwise have come forward at this pace.
This is because either the completed infrastructure allows housing to be
built earlier than otherwise or the planned investment provides
developers with confidence to build out sites faster than they might
otherwise.
3) The HfI timeline originally agreed in the Deal was a five-year period from
2018/19 to 2022/23. This has been extended for up to two years to March
2025 to allow schemes to complete.
Infrastructure
4) Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) are the lead delivery partner for the
infrastructure element of HfI which they deliver through their capital projects
governance framework.
5) The infrastructure element of the HfI programme comprises 23 infrastructure
projects that include road, rail, cycle routes and footpaths, as well as social
infrastructure such as schools. A link to a list of the schemes can be found
here.
6) The commitment from Oxfordshire is that we will work to draw the grant
down in five equal tranches of £30m per year. Previous reports have
highlighted the challenge of this linear draw down of grant and the fact that
this does not align to the typical spend profile of an infrastructure project,
which usually sees expenditure towards the latter stages of the project when
construction is completed.
7) The key infrastructure milestones completed in this year have been:
• Achieved a total spend of £29.093m.
• Sealed 21 separate contracts for various aspects of work from feasibility
to design to construction with a total value of £40.5m.
• Secured a further 2 funding agreements with other public bodies valued
at £16.5m.
• Completed A361 Safety Scheme, A4095 rail underbridge, Access to
Headington, Science Vale Cycle network schemes.
• In construction: Botley Road Corridor, A40 Oxford North with several
projects in feasibility and detailed design, including securing planning
approval on the A40 Science Transit scheme.
8) Officers have also been engaged in an annual review of the programme,
designed to ensure that the schemes included in the programme are
deliverable within the timeframe for the programme and costs are controlled.

Page 43

Risk Management
9) The OCC manages each infrastructure project, in conjunction with relevant
partners and all risks and issues are identified and mitigated.
10) Officers have, as part of their performance management of the programme,
named all relevant risks to each project and supplied a RAG
(Red/Amber/Green) rating for each scheme. The Programme Board receive
monthly reports of risks alongside any mitigations to ensure that we
continue to manage risks appropriately. This also forms part of the quarterly
monitoring information provided to Homes England.
11) At a strategic level, the overall programme also has a Risk Register or RAID
Log, updated quarterly, and reported to the Programme Board. This
Strategic RAID Log holds the following risks to the HfI programme together
with actions proposed to mitigate.
•

•

•
•
•
•
•

The backloading of the programme, an issue compounded by the
pandemic that has led to concerns that some schemes may fall outside
of the 5-year timeframe of the HfI programme. Government recognised
this issue and have extended the programme for a further two years to
enable the completion of delayed infrastructure schemes.
The continuing commitment to spend £30m annually on the HfI
programme when this linear financial profile does not reflect the reality of
infrastructure project spend, which is typically heavily backloaded to the
build phases.
Managing the impact of the HfI programme upon the Oxfordshire road
network- recognising that there are other significant infrastructure
investment programmes in the same timeframe.
Shortages of both labour and materials causing delays to projects. This
is a growing risk to the programme and is a recognised national
phenomenon.
Potential project delays due to the need for some schemes to secure
land through adversarial routes such as compulsory purchase.
Reliance on third parties (developers / network rail, etc) for delivery.
The continuing impact of the pandemic, for example further delays to
schemes caused by current and future restrictions, safe work practices
restricting productivity, interruptions to supply and labour chains and the
wish of contracts to be renegotiated by infrastructure providers to reflect
their new operating environment.

Page 44

Delivering Housing from Infrastructure
12) The estimated position for the Housing from Infrastructure (HfI) programme
as at 31st March 2021 is as follows:

13) The current expected accelerated housing delivery for 2020/21 is 1,292
homes, below the baseline target of 1,655. However, Oxfordshire
significantly exceeded the baseline for accelerated housing delivery in the
first two years of the Deal and therefore, overall, partners anticipate that
accelerated housing trajectory over the original five years of the Deal will still
be above target at 6,577 homes against a baseline of 6,549. However, when
applying the 20% optimism bias for the remaining years of the Deal the
trajectory falls to 5,999.

14) The Deal also offered an expected trajectory for overall housing completions
in the period. Overall completions in the first three years of the Deal were
16,074 homes against the three-year target in the Deal of 17,362 homes.
This when added to a reduced trajectory for anticipated completions for the
period to March 2023 on the above graph means that Oxfordshire expects
that overall completions will be 26,166 homes against the target of 29,455
homes and when the optimism bias is applied to the remaining years of the
Deal this falls to 24,148.
15) It should be noted that the impact of the pandemic and other delays upon
the housing trajectories of councils has been primarily to move these to the

Page 45

right, reflecting delays in delivery caused by the pandemic. This means that
for Growth Deal sites delivering in a specific time window to March 2023
delivery has shifted outside of the original Deal timeline.
16) This report already notes that MHCLG (Ministry of Housing, Communities &
Local Government) recognised this and agreed a programme extension for
up to 2 years to March 2025 to mitigate this effect. Current calculations are
that Oxfordshire could deliver 1,910 accelerated units in 2023/24 alone.
Successful delivery of these units would ensure Oxfordshire significantly
exceeds the 6,549 accelerated homes target.
17) The Growth Deal team are working to mitigate the reducing completions
trajectory through regular engagement with locality partners. Quarterly
review meetings are being held with Homes England to discuss
performance and mitigation strategies for particular sites and Homes
England are encouraging partner councils to involve them in instances of
market failure with a view to discussing interventions to bring sites forward.
Risk Management
18) The risk management of the housing element of the HfI programme has two
elements. Firstly, there is the impact of the related infrastructure programme
described in the earlier section but there are also non infrastructure related
risks to housing delivery. The partnership has developed a two-tier risk
assessment process that allows for consideration of both sets of risks and
issues, reported monthly to the Programme Board and quarterly to Homes
England.
19) Partners have also developed a Strategic Risk Register or RAID Log that
names and addresses the following programme wide risks and issues.
• The pace of infrastructure delivery, particularly that identified as crucial
to the acceleration of homes and the consequent impact on the pace of
related housing development.
• Any macroeconomic issues that cause a potential slowdown of housing
development.
• Shortages of both labour and materials causing delays to projects. This
is a growing risk to the programme and is a recognised national
phenomenon.
• The speed of resolution of any planning issues needed to unblock sites.
• Potential impact of external market factors and the health of the
economy- for example, the stamp duty holiday has had a positive effect
upon demand for housing, but recent market analysis suggests that the
market is slowing.

Affordable Housing Programme (OAHP)
20) In May, Officers met with MHCLG to provide a full year end report on
progress with the OAHP. The headlines of this report are as follows:
• Achieved the revised Year 3 target of 275 units (agreed October 2020).
• Year 3 grant drawdown total of £11,282,175, received on 24th May.
• Year 4 programme of 806 units sent to Homes England along with a
contingency programme of 896 units.

Page 46

• A commitment from partners to apply £4.5m of local authority funds to
the programme - specifically to help the development of low or zero
carbon homes. The Year 4 programme has 366 homes classified as
such, one third of the final year programme.
• The OAHP will, upon completion, lever in more than £4m of RCGF
(Recycled Capital Grant Fund) from Registered Providers to Oxfordshire.
21) Earlier Board reports have highlighted the challenges faced by Oxfordshire
in the delivery of the OAHP. The lack of a mobilisation period, legal barriers
to delivery and grant rates that were lower than those offered by Homes
England all contributed to the OAHP struggling to find traction in the
affordable housing marketplace, leading to us not being able to deliver new
affordable units at the rate that we indicated we would like in the original
Deal.
22) These and other challenges led to agreement for revised terms and timeline
for the OAHP with commitment to deliver 275 units in Year 3- achieved- and
the final 664 units required to hit target in Year 4.
23) Agreement of this revised target still leaves us with a significant challenge in
the final year of the OAHP. With half of the units required to meet the target
still required by the end of March 2022. Achievement will allow us to draw
down the remaining £34,450,375 and ensure we also meet our budget
target.
24) The challenges are both financial and project management. Previously
Oxfordshire has agreed with Registered Provider partners that it would
forward fund any grant due in year until the year end. The potential scale of
this forward funding in the final year presents a potential cash flow issue for
councils.
25) To address this financial challenge, we have agreed a quarterly draw down
regime for OAHP grant. The first time this was introduced was the third
quarter of Year 3.
26) Addressing the challenge of delivery is a constant one for the OAHP. The
high level of churn poses challenges for both setting and delivering accurate
targets. Officers check all schemes in the OAHP closely and report to the
Programme Board by exception to ensure we make every effort to achieve
the relevant contractual milestone. Nonetheless experience shows that in
any one year we can expect to see significant numbers of units either
withdrawn or delayed in the programme, balanced by late project additions
to the programme.
27) Oxfordshire has a comprehensive programme management regime
involving close engagement with all partners that enables us to track
schemes closely and project manage risks and issues where possible.
Risk Management
28) The key risks to delivery of individual schemes within the OAHP, are
primarily from delays in scheme development, planning and tender
processes, together with financial challenges to schemes viability. The
partners manage these risks at district/city level.

Page 47

29) In addition to these site-specific risks, there are more general risks named in
the RAID Log for the Programme, these are:
• That the OAHP is not large enough to withstand the expected dropout
rate of schemes that typically occurs through the programme. The
programme needs to have the ability to allow for such drop out and still
deliver to target. Mitigation of this risk is a persistent challenge, but one
important response has been the development of the contingency
programme, which can be used to draw in other units as required.
• The risks to the OAHP of a downturn in the economy, slowing housing
completion rates and thence the affordable units developed.
• Shortages of both labour and materials causing delays to projects as
well as affecting costs and viability. This is a growing risk to the
programme and is a recognised national phenomenon.

Oxfordshire Plan 2050
30) In Quarter 4, the focus of the Oxfordshire Plan team (the Team) has been
on four key areas of work, all of which then lead to the development of the
final version of the Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18 document into a full plan
ready for consultation. The five key areas are:
• Finalising the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision- including consultation on the
draft leading up to its endorsement by the Growth Board.
• Developing the spatial policy options for the Plan.
• Working to refine other associated policy options for the Plan.
• Progressing technical studies to build the supporting evidence base.
• Developing the Consultation Framework
Finalising the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision
31) In previous reports we have highlighted to the Board that although the
ambition of the Strategic Vision is to provide a strategic framework for all of
Oxfordshire, it remains the case that one core purpose is to establish a
strategic narrative and a set of priorities for the Oxfordshire Plan, which will
in turn then become one of the Plans that help achieve the ambitions of the
Strategic Vision.
32) The Board carried out a consultation exercise through the third quarter and
in the period to the end of March the Vision was finalised in the context of all
responses and a final document prepared for endorsement by the Board. All
partner councils have now agreed the Vision and it has been published on
the Growth Board website along with a one page summary.

Developing the Spatial Policy Options for the Plan
33) Whilst it will not be the role of the Oxfordshire Plan to allocate sites for
development it will offer an assessment of development options for local
plans to reflect in their next iterations. At this stage of the Plan’s
development, councils are looking to establish and consult upon a range of
spatial policy options that could inform later decisions. The Oxfordshire Plan
team have been working with partner councils and the Oxfordshire Plan
Advisory Sub-group on what a suite of spatial policy options could look like.
Page
48 18 consultation.
This will be a key focus for the
Regulation

Working to refine policy options
34) Alongside the spatial policy options the Oxfordshire Plan Regulation 18
document will consult on a suite of related policy options designed to
establish what future development could look like and how it addresses
issues such as the environment, low carbon development, nature
preservation and recovery, future transport and others.
35) This work to develop the suite of policies has been a genuine partnership
project drawing expertise from partner councils and wider stakeholders. This
pooling of expertise, alongside best practice, government guidance, the
Sustainability Appraisal process, and the emerging outputs of the technical
studies to inform the policy options for the Oxfordshire Plan will ensure that
the draft policies are both robust and reflect partner consensus on the
options we will present in the consultation.
Progressing technical studies
36) Finally, the partners are, alongside the Plan documents, building an
evidence base comprising a range of technical studies that provide valuable
baseline information, mapping, projections, and analysis on topics related to
environmental, social and economic factors that will influence the Plan. The
intention is that these studies will be background evidence to inform the
spatial and policy options that we will present for consultation.
37) It is intended that the evidence base studies will be published alongside the
Plan (Regulation 18 part 2) consultation document by the 31st July so that
those engaging with the process can understand the work that has informed
its drafting. Thereafter we will use the studies to test the options and in time
they will form the supporting evidence for the consideration of the Plan at
Examination by an Inspector. It is therefore crucial to the Plan making
process to make this evidence base gathering stage comprehensive and
robust.
Developing the Consultation Framework
38) The consultation of the Regulation 18 document will start on 31st July,
subject to its approval by the partner councils. To prepare for this the Team
are developing the website that will be the basis of consultation, using the
Oxfordshire Open Thought platform that was successful for the part one
consultation.
39) To complement this the team plan to host a series of themed
seminar/workshops throughout July and August. There will also be focus
groups commissioned to offer a representative view of local people and
seminar with local colleges, a method of engagement that has proved
beneficial in the past are also planned.
40) The team will also be offering all councils an opportunity for member
workshops to explain the Regulation 18 Document in more detail.
Risk Management

Page 49

41) The following key risks to the production of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050,
previously reported remain important considerations:
• Challenges of being a front-runner, producing a new type of Plan with
little bespoke guidance in national policy – this has become more
relevant with the publication of the Planning White Paper.
• Challenging timeframe for production of the Plan given the complexities
of the topics it will cover and of partnership working – this is mitigated by
the new timetable outlined above although there is no further
contingency.
• The development of a clear, agreed spatial strategy to form the basis of
the policies; without this the defence of the Plan and its policies would be
impossible – development of the Strategic Vision seeks to help to fill this
space.
• Links with external projects, for example the OxCam Arc Spatial
Framework. Meetings have been arranged with Arc officers to discuss
this
• Links with and relationship to district Local Plans.
42) Officers have developed a detailed risk register including mitigations to
ensure that risks are appropriately managed.

Productivity
43) A key feature of the Oxfordshire Housing & Growth Deal has been the work
undertaken by partners to ensure strategic alignment between our
economic, spatial and infrastructure priorities, giving investors, Government
and business the confidence that Oxfordshire has a clear vision and plan to
deliver sustainable and inclusive growth. We have worked hard to ensure
alignment of both the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) and the Oxfordshire
Plan 2050 to ensure they both use common evidence data, whilst also
ensuring full integration between these plans and the priorities emerging
from Oxfordshire’s refreshed Infrastructure Strategy.
44) A number of aspects of the Productivity stream are now being
operationalised through identified delivery channels which can take forward
the priorities set out in both the Oxfordshire Local Industrial Strategy (which
was jointly published with Government in July 2019 and is a key deliverable
under the Oxfordshire Housing & Growth Deal) and the subsequent
Oxfordshire Investment Plan which translates the ambitions of the Strategy
into a coherent delivery programme – details of which were shared in the Q3
Progress Report to the Oxfordshire Growth Board.
45) Key proposals to support our world leading innovation ecosystem have been
developed into business-case ready propositions and are now incorporated
into the Oxford-Cambridge Arc Economic Prospectus which is being
negotiated with Government for investment as part of the forthcoming
spending review in the Autumn. Proposals include;
• the development of the space cluster at Harwell to harness new satellite
technologies which will secure the campus as one of the world’s most
significant locations for space innovation
• accelerating innovation in clean growth technologies to tackle climate
change including a new Page
Energy 50
Systems Accelerator, a net zero Living

Lab at Harwell and development of a climate park at Howbery building
on the nationally recognised centre of excellence in flood resilience
located on the site
• supporting the development of connected and autonomous systems,
technologies, and vehicles as part of the future of mobility which includes
investment at the Culham Science Centre – currently the UK’s testbed
for these technologies
• investment into our health and life sciences clusters to support the
acceleration of activity in therapeutics, vaccine development and
commercialisation which has been in significant demand following the
COVID-19 pandemic and the success of the Oxford vaccine.
46) In addition to these technology focused priorities, key regeneration projects
named in the investment plan are starting to take shape as they work
through planning, land assembly and infrastructure stages. These include:
• the West End Global Innovation District which encompasses the
redevelopment of Oxford Station as well as the adjacent Oxpens, Osney
and Island sites; Network Rail confirmed c£70m of investment to support
the development of the station and work on the other sites are now
progressing well following the impacts of the pandemic during 2020. A
strategic stakeholder board has been set up to oversee the wider project
and is working on visioning and initial spatial plans
• Salt Cross Science Park which is part of the proposed Garden Village
near Eynsham and has attracted interest from key businesses to locate
onto the site, which will create and also safeguard a substantial number
of high skilled and well paid jobs in the west of the county.
47) Alongside these developments, priorities for skills support have been
incorporated into the Oxfordshire Economic Recovery Plan (ERP) as part of
our system-wide response to the COVID-19 pandemic. £1m of additional
investment from the Department for Work & Pensions will support the
development of skills development activities for adults seeking to return to
work as well as new pathways for young people to progress into jobs being
created across new technologies and sectors in the economy which will
form part of the ‘Social Contract’ set out under the LIS.

Deal Governance and Finance
48) The focus of the Growth Deal Programme Office during Year 3 has
continued to be in the management, co-ordinating and reporting of the
following key priorities:
•
•
•
•

Financial management of the Growth Deal Capacity Fund
Development and reporting of business intelligence
Co-ordination of strategic risk management
Management and co-ordination of Growth Deal Programme Board
agenda/papers
• Team support, including recruitment
• Business Continuity planning
• Programme management Page
support 51

Financial management of the Growth Deal Capacity Fund
49) The Programme Office has continued its responsibility to produce the
monthly financial statements to the Growth Deal Programme Board,
presenting financial data on the Housing, Affordable Housing, Oxfordshire
Plan, Infrastructure and OxIS Programmes together with associated running
costs.
50) In the last quarter we completed the transfer of budget responsibility for the
Oxfordshire Plan from Oxford City Council to enable the entire programme
to be managed within the OCC financial system and in the calculations of
the year end reserve position. This critical work has enabled the drafting of
the budget reforecast for 2021/22 – 2023/24 to reflect the agreed extension
of the Growth Deal within the constraints of the remaining budget of the
Capacity Fund.
51) The Year End financial position remained within the original forecast. We
propose that during Year 4 - Q2 2021/22, the reforecast will be finalised,
and the updated figures will be reported in the financial statements, from Q2
onwards.
Business Intelligence
52) As part of our continuous improvement ethos, the business intelligence
gathered and reported to Government, Growth Board and the Growth Deal
Programme Board has evolved during Year 3 to provide critical data in
varying formats to suit its audience, that is succinct and relevant.
53) For the Growth Deal Programme Board, we have replaced the individual
programme updates with a newly designed monthly Highlight Reporting
pack. This presents one source of business intelligence for all the Growth
Deal programmes, except for the OxLEP programme (this programme is
managed and reported separately by the OxLEP team).
Strategic Risk Management
54) Improvements to the reporting to the Growth Deal Programme Board of
strategic risks and issues have continued during Year 3. This has
culminated in the reporting of a high-level summary slide in the monthly
Highlight Reporting pack of the strategic risks and issues to the programme.
Work will continue during Year 4 on the mitigating actions and activities with
the risks and issue owners. Risks and issues are presented with a RAG
(Red/Amber/Green) status within a set matrix.
55) This work forms part of the overall Strategic RAID Log, representing ‘Risks,
Assumptions, Issues and Dependencies’ of the Growth Deal Programme.
Sitting underneath this Strategic RAID Log are a series of themed risk
registers for each of the workstreams of the Deal, highlighted in the relevant
sections of this report.

Legal Implications
56) None arising from this report.

Other Implications

Page 52

57) None arising from this report.

Conclusion
58) This report outlines progress against the agreed Growth Deal Year 3
milestones.
59) The third year of the Deal has seen the partners address both the historic
challenges the Deal has faced since its start and those challenges
presented by operational issues resulting from, for example the COVID-19
pandemic.
60) The report shows that despite these challenges Oxfordshire continues to
make good progress towards meeting our commitments under the Deal and
there are continually evolving robust best practice partnership and
management arrangements, both within each council and across the
partnership to address risks and issues as they arise. MHCLG recognised
these arrangements as best practice in the year end meeting discussed
earlier in the report.
61) The report asks the Growth Board to note progress with the Oxfordshire
Housing and Growth Deal at 31st March 2021, the third year of the Deal and
the achievement against the milestones committed to.
Background Papers
None
Report Author:

Paul Staines, Interim Head of Programme

Contact information: paul.staines@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Page 53

Agenda Item 8b

To:

Oxfordshire Growth Board

Title of Report:

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Financial Report
Quarter 4 2020/21

Date:

19 July 2021

Report of:

Director of Finance, Oxfordshire County Council
(Accountable Body)

Status:

Open

Executive Summary and Purpose:
The purpose of this report is to update the Growth Board on the 2020/21 financial
position at the end of Quarter 4 for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.
The report covers the three grant funding streams:
 Infrastructure programme
 Affordable Housing programme
 Growth Deal Capacity Fund
The report is prepared by the Director of Finance for Oxfordshire County Council
in the capacity of Section 151 Officer of the Accountable Body for the Oxfordshire
Housing and Growth Deal and gives assurance over the grant funding and
expenditure.
The fourth strand of the Deal, Productivity is reported through the OXLEP Board
under separate arrangements
Recommendation: That the Growth Board notes the 2020/21 Quarter 4 financial
report.
Appendices:
Annex 1 – Infrastructure Fund Programme
Annex 2 – Affordable Housing Programme
Annex 3 – Capacity Fund

1.0

Introduction

1.1

This report sets out the financial position for Quarter 4 2020/21 of the following
three stands of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and associated
funding streams from Homes England (HE):



Infrastructure Programme.
Affordable Housing Programme.

Page 54

www.OxfordshireGrowthBoard.org



Growth Deal Capacity Fund.

1.2

This report is prepared by the Director of Finance for Oxfordshire County
Council (the County Council) in the capacity of Section 151 Officer of the
Accountable Body for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal and gives
assurance over the grant funding and expenditure.

1.3

Funding for the fourth strand of the deal Productivity Programme is managed
by the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP) and financial
performance is reported independently to the Growth Board.

2.0

Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Fund Financial Governance

2.1

In accordance with the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Delivery Plan,
the County Council is the accountable body for the financial management of the
three key financial streams. A quarterly report is provided to the Growth Board.
Responsibility for the management of each financial stream is held by the
programme lead.

2.2

As the Accountable Body, the County Council is responsible for ensuring that:
 Funding is received from Government.
 Recommendations to the Growth Board on schemes to be funded are in
accordance with the grant conditions.
 Regular monitoring reports are provided to the Growth Board.

2.3

The County Council also holds the risk should Government require funding to
be repaid if it is unspent or deemed to have been misused.

3.0

Financial Summary Quarter 4 2020/21

3.1

Infrastructure Fund

3.1.1 The Infrastructure Fund is a fund of £150.0m. The grant funding is paid in five
equal annual instalments of £30.0m to the Accountable Body. 2020/21 was the
third year of the Infrastructure Fund Programme.
3.1.2 The full list of schemes and latest profile of spend over the remaining
programme is set out in Annex 1. The total spend on growth deal schemes
reported for the 2020/21 financial year was £28.8m. Within the total spend,
£16.5m related to a funding agreement with Highways England for the Upper
Heyford Mitigation Package of works to the M40 which was passported to
Highways England. As these works have yet to be completed, this has been
accounted for as a prepayment in the County Council’s accounts.
3.1.3 The total spend reported for the Growth Deal Infrastructure programme to 31
March 2021 was £72.1m.

Page 55

3.2

Affordable Housing Fund

3.2.1 The Affordable Housing Fund is a fund of up to £60.0m to support the delivery
of affordable housing. The funding is available over the first four years of the
growth deal from 2018/19 to 2021/22 following agreement to extend the original
three-year programme by a year into 2021/22.
3.2.2 The Affordable Housing Programme detail is set out in Annex 3. The actual
funding claimed is agreed periodically with Homes England based on the
number of affordable housing units that are in contract to be delivered. To
support the cashflow of the housing authorities, it has been agreed with Homes
England to move from an annual claim to a quarterly claim process. This will
also support the in-year monitoring by giving greater visibility of progress to
date.
3.2.3 Funding of £14.3m was claimed in the first two years of the programme. During
2020/21 a further claim of £11.3m was made taking the total claim to date to
£25.6m. There is therefore up to £34.4m available to claim in 2021/22.
3.2.4 The breakdown of the claim for 2020/21 is set out in the following tables
analysed by local housing authority area (Table 1) and unit category (Table 2):
Table 1
Housing authority

Grant
Claim

Cherwell District Council
Oxford City Council
South Oxfordshire District Council
Vale of White Horse District Council
West Oxfordshire District Council
Total
Table 2
Unit Category

£m
4.0
3.8
0.8
2.7
11.3

Grant
Claim
£m
5.9
1.6
3.8
11.3

Social Rented
Affordable Rented
Shared Ownership
Total

Affordable
Housing
Units
No.
99
92
24
60
275

Affordable
Housing
Units
No.
103
38
134
275

3.2.5 As set out in Annex 2, the estimated deliverable units including 2021/22
currently exceed the available grant funding of £60.0m by £4.4m. This is
deemed to be reasonable as a number of schemes are at the early stages of
planning and may reduce in size or be removed from the programme. If this
does not happen, a decision will need to made to prioritise schemes as the total
cost of the scheme cannot exceed the available grant.

Page 56

3.3

Growth Deal Capacity Fund

3.3.1 The Growth Deal Capacity Fund is a fund of £5.0m. The grant has been paid
to the County Council in three instalments. The first instalment of £0.5m was
paid in 2017/18, followed by an instalment of £2.5m in 2018/19 and £2.0m in
2019/20.
3.3.2 The funding is available to be used over the life of the programme which was
originally planned to run from 2017/18 to 2022/23. At year end, funding that
has not been spent is carried forward through the County Council’s Earmarked
Reserves. The budget is split into three elements:




Housing Delivery: Staff costs for the core Housing and Growth Deal team.
Delivery of the Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan including staff
costs.
Feasibility: costs of feasibility works including Rail Connectivity Study and
Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) refresh.

3.3.3 Annex 3 sets out the actual spend to 2020/21 and estimated spend for the
remaining programme. The future profile of spend remains under review.
3.3.4 During 2020/21 there was a net drawdown of £0.1m from the Capacity Fund
reserve to fund the activities of the programme team and Joint Statutory Spatial
Plan (JSSP). In previous years the JSSP costs have been reported as the
budgeted amount and any underspend against the budget has been held in
reserve by the City Council. This underspend has now been returned to the
Capacity Fund to give greater transparency about the remaining funding
available.

Capacity Fund

2020/21
£m

Housing Delivery (Programme Team)
Oxfordshire Joint Statutory Spatial Plan
Return of JSSP reserve from City Council
Total Expenditure

0.4
0.1
(0.4)
0.1

3.3.5 The balance of the Capacity Fund Reserve was £2.4m at 31 March 2021.
4.0

Risk Management

4.1

The financial performance of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Grant
funding streams is closely monitored by the Growth Deal Programme Board.
This will ensure that forecast spend of the Growth Deal period is accurate,
based on the knowledge of the programme plans, and actual spend is reported,
based on a monthly review of all transactional activity and balanced to the
County Council financial systems.

4.2

Any risk identified to the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal Funding
streams will be reported to the Growth Deal Programme Board for review and

Page 57

appropriate mitigation action will be agreed. Any strategic risk to the overall
programme will be reported to the Growth Board.

5.0

Conclusion

5.1

This report sets out the spend against the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth
Deal funding streams for Quarter 4 2020/21.

5.2

The Growth Board is asked to note the 2020/21 Quarter 4 financial report.

Report Author:

Lorna Baxter, Director of Finance

Contact information: Hannah Doney, Head of Corporate Finance Tel: 07584174654

Page 58

Annex 1

Infrastructure Programme

Growth Deal Schemes

Page 59

GROWTH DEAL SCHEMES
NW Bicester A4095 Howes Lane / Lords Lane u/bridge
NW Bicester A4095 Howes Lane / Lords LaneRoad Realignment
M40 J10 Improvements
A422 Hennef Way, Banbury
Tramway Road Banbury
A361 Bloxham Rd to A4260 Oxford Rd Link Rd
Access to Headington
Botley Road Corridor
Oxpens to Osney Mead Cycling and Pedestrian Bridge
Oxford Citywide Cycle and Pedestrian Routes
Banbury Rd Improvements (Banbury Road Corridor)
Woodstock Rd Improvement (Woodstock Road Corridor)
SE Corridors / Connecting Oxford
A4260 and A44 Corridor Improvements
North Oxford Corridors - Kidlington
Active Travel P2 - City
Botley Road Bridge
Cowley Branch Line
Watlington Edge Road
Benson Relief Road
Milton Enterprise Pedestrian and Cycle Bridge
Frilford Junction
Relief to Rowstock
Jubilee Way Roundabout & Didcot Central Corridor
Golden Balls Roundabout Junction (A4074/B4015)
A40/Minster Lovell West Facing Slips/Access to Carterton
Oxford Science Transit
Access to Witney at Shores Green
Thame to Haddenham Cycle Route
Shrivenham New School
Ploughley Road / A41 Bicester
Wantage Eastern Link Road
Featherbed Lane Capacity Improvements
Total Scheme Spend
Staffing
Programme Contingency/earmarked reserves
Total Other Send
TOTAL GROWTH DEAL SCHEMES
New Schools and Other Transport Schemes - Capital Switches
Revenue
Prepayments
Overall Total

Funding
Capital
Revenue
Funding Switches
Total Funding
Revenue C/Fwd
Capital C/Fwd

Yr 1 & Yr 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
2
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
0.258
3.500
0.552
5.900
1.386
0.005
0.044
0.006
0.017
0.022
11.690
11.690
41.039
7.025
59.754

4.579
0.343
16.563
0.170
0.163
0.300
2.698
0.003
0.093
0.108
0.112
0.210
0.894
0.040
0.250
0.442
0.081
0.077
0.245
1.476
28.847
28.847
16.500
12.347

2.500
1.900
0.900
1.020
1.350
3.250
1.000
10.000
0.700
0.479
0.500
0.500
0.150
0.200
0.750
0.350
0.400
3.000
2.000
0.017
0.022
30.910
30.910
2.500
33.410

0.443
8.000
1.867
0.097
0.786
0.912
8.500
0.520
3.100
5.000
4.900
0.814
0.250
0.400
0.700
0.650
0.600
3.905
0.700
42.144
42.144
7.000
49.144

5.507
2.317
0.638
0.536
0.260
5.445
0.093
0.400
0.590
5.188
1.800
22.774
22.774
7.000
29.774

30.000
0.000
0.000
30.000
0.000
17.653

30.000
0.000
0.000
30.000
0.000
-3.410

30.000
0.000
0.000
30.000
0.000
-19.144

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
-29.774

£m

7.780
15.750
18.880
0.170
2.930
0.300
3.500
3.250
6.000
3.285
2.370
12.500
1.730
14.530
6.000
0.479
0.248
0.248
11.100
1.800
0.580
1.500
0.423
4.700
3.005
1.000
1.000
0.590
12.000
2.336
5.905
2.500
0.000
0.000
6.012
142.377
0.350
0.350
0.350
0.350
6.362
142.727
41.039
7.273
0.248
6.610
191.039

Yr 1 & Yr 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
2
45.000
15.000
41.039
101.039
0.246
41.039

Total

0.000
0.000
0.000
0.000
-0.246
-6.364

Total
135.000
15.000
41.039
191.039
0.000
0.000

Capital
Allocation
£m

Revenue
Allocation
£m

7.780
15.750
18.880
0.170
2.930
0.300
3.500
3.250
6.000
3.285
2.370
12.500
1.730
14.530
6.000
0.479
0.248
11.100
1.800
0.580
1.500
4.700
1.000
1.000
0.590
12.000
5.905
2.500
142.377
0.350
0.350
142.727

0.020
0.140
0.030
0.280
0.470
0.030
0.440
1.470
0.500
0.010
0.420
0.120
0.020
0.010
0.010
3.970
3.303
3.303
7.273

Affordable Housing Programme

Annex 2
2018/19
Units
Grant
claimed

2019/20
Units
Grant
claimed

Unit Type
Social Rented
Affordable Rented
Shared Ownership
Total Units & Spend
Original Phasing Units
Difference
Grant available
Difference
Grant available carried forward

No.
22
82
87
191
148
(43)

£m
1.210
3.330
2.175
6.715

6.500
(0.215)
(0.215)

No.
76
70
46
192
464
272

£m
4.125
2.445
1.010
7.580

21.500
13.920
13.705

2020/21
2021/22
Units
Forecast Estimated Estimated
Grant
Units
Costs
Claim
No.
£m
No.
£m
103
5.940
359
22.133
38
1.578
168
8.155
134
3.765
276
8.498
275
11.283
803
38.786
710
0
435
(803)
32.000
0.000
20.717
(38.786)
34.422
(4.364)

Estimated
Total Units
No.
560
358
543
1,461
1,322
(139)

Estimated
Total Costs
£m
33.408
15.508
15.448
64.364

60.000
(4.364)

Page 60

Capacity Fund

Annex 3
2017/18
Actual
Spend
£'m

Housing Delivery (Programme Team)
Joint Statutory Spatial Plan costs
Feasibility
To allocate
Total Spend
Grant Received
Grant Carried Forward (-) / Drawn down (+)

Page 61

Year End Reserve Balance

0.044

2018/19
Actual
Spend
£'m
0.340
0.207
0.000

2019/20
Actual
Spend
£'m
0.480
1.347
0.042

2020/21
Actual
Spend
£'m
0.390
(0.253)
0.000

2021/22
Forecast
Spend
£'m

2022/23
Forecast
Spend
£'m

TOTAL
£'m
1.254
1.301
0.171

0.129
1.100

1.033

0.044
(0.500)
(0.456)

0.547
(2.500)
(1.953)

1.869
(2.000)
(0.131)

0.137

1.229

1.033

0.137

1.229

1.033

0.456

2.409

2.540

2.403

1.174

0.141

2.726
(5.000)
(0.141)

Agenda Item 8c Public Document Pack

Notes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Oxfordshire Growth Board Infrastructure
Advisory Group
HELD ON WEDNESDAY 26 MAY 2021 AT 11.00 AM
VIRTUAL VIA MS TEAMS
Present:
Members: Councillors , Pieter-Paul Barker, Duncan Enright, Alex Hollingsworth, Liz
Leffman, Lynn Pratt, Judy Roberts and Phil Southall
Officers: Amit Alva, (Oxfordshire Growth Board), John Disley (Infrastructure Strategy &
Policy Manager, Oxfordshire County Council), Rose Sutton (Strategic Infrastructure
Coordinator, Oxfordshire County Council), Hannah Battye (Head of Infrastructure Delivery,
Oxfordshire County Council), Kevin Jacob (Oxfordshire Growth Board) and Paul Staines,
(Interim Head of Programme)

1
Introductions & welcome to new members; Apologies for absence
and notifications of substitutions
Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillor Ed Turner substituted by Councillor
Alex Hollingsworth and apologies from Councillor Jeff Haine.

2

Appointment of temporary Chair for this sub-group meeting

Councillor Liz Leffman was appointed Temporary Chair for the meeting.

3

Declarations of Interests

There were no declarations of interest.

4

Role of the Infrastructure Sub-Group; Terms of Reference

The role of the Infrastructure Advisory Group and its Terms of Reference were noted by
the group.

5

Notes of the previous meeting

The notes of the meeting held on 1 March 2021 were agreed as a correct record.

Infrastructure Advisory Group notes - 26 May 2021

Page 62

1

6

Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy Stage 1 Update

The advisory group considered an update, introduced by John Disley, Infrastructure
Strategy and Delivery Manager, Oxfordshire County Council, on the Oxfordshire
Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) which aims to set out the infrastructure needs for
Oxfordshire to 2040 forming part of the evidence base for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050. The
report produced by City Science followed the completion of OxIS stage 1 up to the year
2040 ahead of its public and stakeholder consultation. OxIS stage 2 would continue to be
aligned with the aim of complementing and providing evidence base for the emerging
Oxon Plan 2050. The report was delivered by Jo Muncaster and Laurence Oakes-Ash
from City Science with support from officers. The advisory was updated on several aspects
of stage 1:


The OxIS stage 1 considers infrastructure schemes to 2040 within existing Districts’
Infrastructure Delivery Plans (IDP), Local plans and also wider sources such as
Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP), Oxfordshire County Council (OCC)
and utility providers applying a ‘needs-based approach’ appraisal aligned to OxIS
themes to re-prioritise strategic infrastructure schemes. It also aligns itself with
Regulation 18, part 2 of the Oxfordshire Plan Consultation and the District Local Plans
forecast.



The group was also updated on Growth trajectory to 2040 on local housing projections
beyond 2020 and projected increase in population by 2030, in addition the group was
also presented with data on remaining approximate allocated strategic employment
floorspace during core Local Plan periods within Oxfordshire towns and rural
communities. The group was also presented with a table of Oxfordshire’s future needs
to 2040 with key policies and strategies on the core OxIS themes of Environment,
Health, Place-Shaping, Productivity and Connectivity.



The group was also presented with data on Strategic Infrastructure Scheme
Identification and Outcomes in addition to focusing on gaps and additional scheme
requirements to 2040. The methodology used for the multicriteria OxIS scheme
appraisal and new & emerging funding streams for deliverability were also outlined.

In discussion, members discussed the need for clarity on timescales and objective scoring
for the projects, it was agreed that City Science would provide standardisation of the
results and a summary report and scheme list would be circulated to members and
officers. In addition, member also felt the need to assess the approach, progress and
output including next steps which would be included as a full technical report.
The group also discussed the need to fill some of the gaps in the outlined Infrastructure
schemes such as health infrastructure with regards to hospitals in areas including
Banbury and transport link to surgeries in Bicester, intra urban cycle routes, building
innovation, employment land and transport hubs. The group noted that OxIS was
developed prior to the gap analysis done by City Science in this update which was in its
early stages and OxIS stage 2 alignment to Oxfordshire Plan 2050 would be key in looking
at spatial options with high level principles and more detailed specific infrastructure
schemes at a granular level.
Members also discussed infrastructure opportunities in rural areas in relation to
environmental travel access and other Highway projects such as A34 improvements, the
Infrastructure Advisory Group notes - 26 May 2021

Page 63

2

group noted that there are current ongoing efforts in lobbying the Department for Transport
(DFT), however the objectives of DFT are to co-ordinate improvements by bringing
together smaller infrastructure projects like Kennington Bridge and Lodge Hill. The group
also discussed the need to look at water resources especially River Thames as an avenue
for infrastructure projects.
Officers welcomed feedback on gaps in infrastructure schemes and further feedback
including on OxIS public & stake holder consultation. It was agreed that OxIS Stage 1
Summary and Technical Report and Scheme List would be circulated in due course,
previous figures of participation through the Open Thought portal would also be produced
and circulated, in addition the Infrastructure Advisory Group would be considered as a pilot
for the OxIS public and stakeholder consultation.

7

Infrastructure Sub-Group Forward Programme

The group noted items on the forward programme which is an update on the Local
Transport and Connectivity linked to OxIS and Infrastructure Programme Delivery reports.

8

Dates of next virtual meetings

The dates of future meetings in the Agenda were noted except for 31 August 2021 which
may be subject to change due to alignment with next stage of OxIS to allow for reporting.

The meeting closed at 12.40 pm

Infrastructure Advisory Group notes - 26 May 2021

Page 64

3

Notes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Oxfordshire Growth Board Infrastructure
Advisory Group
HELD ON MONDAY 28 JUNE 2021 AT 2.00 PM
VIRTUAL MEETING VIA MS TEAMS
Present:
Members: Councillors Liz Leffman (Chair), Duncan Enright, Alex Hollingsworth, Lynn Pratt
and Judy Roberts
Officers: Hannah Battye (Head of Infrastructure Delivery, Oxfordshire County Council),
John Disley (Infrastructure Strategy and Policy Manager, Oxfordshire County Council),
Daisy Gladstone (Oxfordshire Growth Board), Melissa Goodacre (Oxfordshire County
Council), Kevin Jacob (Oxfordshire Growth Board) and Owen Jenkins (Senior Responsible
Officer, Housing and Growth Deal Infrastructure Programme, Oxfordshire County Council)

9
Apologies for absence and notifications of substitutions;
declarations of interests; Chair's announcements
Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillor Barker, Councillor Haines and Phil
Southall (Oxfordshire Strategic Transport Forum representative).
There were no declarations of interest.

10

Notes of the previous meeting

The notes of the meeting held on 26 May 2021 were agreed as a correct record.

11

Local Transport and Connectivity Plan - Overview of Program

John Disley, Infrastructure Strategy and Policy Manager, Oxfordshire County Council,
gave a presentation setting the context for LTCP and drawing attention to some points
incorporated as a result of the LTCP Vision Consultation. The need to keep the policy
framework up to date in a fast changing environment was touched on, with reference to
the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, the Oxfordshire Infrastructure Strategy (OxIS) parts 1 and 2,
the Oxford-Cambridge Arc Spatial Framework and Local Plan updates. The LTCP will to
be split into two parts, with the first focussing on overall county wide strategy and modal
strategies (2021) and the second on area and corridor strategies (2022).

Infrastructure Advisory Group notes - 28 June 2021

Page 65

There was discussion about the importance of continuing to engage with regional partners
such as England’s Economic Heartland to identify and promote freight networks to reduce
the use of unsuitable roads by heavy goods vehicles.
Bridleways and waterways were identified as good examples of how the transport and
connectivity needs of rural areas of the county differ from more urban environments.
The challenge of moving from strategy to delivery whilst simultaneously moving from a
modal strategy to an area strategy was discussed. It was agreed that the optimum strategy
was one which was funded, realistic and deliverable within two to five years, particularly as
items such as Local Plans are developed under the presumption that infrastructure set out
in LTCP will have been delivered. It was acknowledged that well developed strategies play
a vital part in securing funding, but that short-term funding initiatives from HMG could also
cause priorities to be recentred at short notice. There was a request for greater reference
to strategy documents such as LTCP when officers gave planning decisions.
There was a discussion about how to make the LTCP more relatable by the development
of phrases similar to “twenty-minute neighbourhoods” for various LTCP aims.

12

Infrastructure Programme Delivery & Housing update

Owen Jenkins, Senior Responsible Officer, Housing and Growth Deal Infrastructure
Programme, Oxfordshire County Council, explained that there was no update on housing
numbers as figures from some districts were outstanding. On the proposed Infrastructure
Programme changes it was explained that Oxfordshire County Council are the
accountable body so the changes are subject to their internal governance processes,
however endorsement is sought from the Infrastructure Advisory Group and the Growth
Board as a means of promoting collegial working. The Infrastructure Programme is
regularly updated to account for changes to time and cost, and in order to ensure a
deliverable programme of completed schemes within the limits of the Deal. Although the
funding is due to end in March 2023, there is scope to agree extensions to individual
schemes in consultation with Homes England. Hannah Battye then went through the list of
proposed changes, noting the current volatile environment for construction materials and
labour created by Brexit and Covid.
There was discussion about the Loop Farm link road and the need for further assessment
of the costs and benefits of the scheme before it could be brought forwards. Further
rebalancing is likely to be due on the ‘Relief to Rowstock’ item and ‘Milton Enterprise
Bridge’ regarding both time and cost, however these remain part of the Growth Deal
Infrastructure Programme at present. There is a similar watching brief on ‘Oxpens Bridge’.
Detailed scrutiny is also taking place on ‘Howes Lane realignment’ as it appears there will
be a significant shortfall and a potential delay in the associated 6,000 houses coming
forwards, which could affect the justification for the infrastructure. More detail is expected
in the autumn.
The Advisory Group agreed to endorse the proposed changes.

Infrastructure Advisory Group notes - 28 June 2021

Page 66

13 Growth Board Scrutiny Panel Task & Finish Group - Private
Investment in Public Infrastructure Projects
Kevin Jacob introduced the Task and Finish Group paper, initiated by the Growth Board
Scrutiny Panel, and the Growth Board’s subsequent recommendations which were noted
by the Advisory Group.
In response to recommendation 5, the Advisory Group were keen to invite someone to
speak from the UK Infrastructure Bank when established.
In response to recommendations 3 and 4, John Disley felt that the work done by the Task
and Finish Group would be beneficial to feed into the OxIS part 2.
It was discussed whether there were opportunities for delivery of LTCP items though
private infrastructure, and how the model developed by the local Low Carbon Hub could
be scaled up across the county for larger infrastructure projects. Support was expressed
for co-operative business models. It was agreed that an opportunity for local authorities to
share learnings and best practice would be beneficial.

14 Co-option of a representative of the Oxfordshire Strategic
Transport Forum to the Advisory Group for 2021/2022
The Advisory Group agreed that a member of the Oxfordshire Strategic Transport Forum
be co-opted as a non-voting member to the Infrastructure Advisory Group for the year
2021/2022, and that Phil Southall should continue in this role.

15

Dates of future meetings

The dates of future meetings in the Agenda were noted, in particular the rescheduled
meeting from 31 August to 7 September 2021, which was adjusted to better align with the
next stage of OxIS.

The meeting closed at 3.20 pm

Infrastructure Advisory Group notes - 28 June 2021

Page 67

Agenda Item 8e

Notes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Oxfordshire Growth Board Oxfordshire
Plan 2050 Advisory Group
HELD ON THURSDAY 3 JUNE 2021 AT 10.00 AM
VIRTUAL VIA MS TEAMS
Present:
Councillors: Tim Bearder, Debby Hallett, Alex Hollingsworth, Michele Mead, (Chair)
Anne-Marie Simpson and Barry Wood
Officers: Adrian Colwell (Oxfordshire Plan 2050), Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire District
Council), Kevin Jacob, (Oxfordshire Growth Board), Paul Staines, (Interim Head of
Programme) and Peter Truman, (Oxfordshire Plan 2050).

1
Introductions & welcome to new members; Apologies for absence
and notifications of substitutions
Apologies were received from Councillor Colin Clarke, Cherwell District Council,
(substituted by Councillor Barry Wood), Councillor Duncan Enright, Oxfordshire County
Council, (substituted by Councillor Tim Bearder) and Councillor Jeff Haine, West
Oxfordshire District Council due to IT issues.
Councillor Mead welcomed all those present as Chair. In light of there being a number of
new members present, members of the advisory group and officers introduced
themselves.

2

Declarations of Interests

There were no declarations of interest.

3
Role of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group; Terms of
Reference
The advisory group considered the Terms of Reference of the Oxfordshire Plan 2050
Advisory Group.
That the Terms of Reference of Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group be noted.

4

Notes of the previous meeting

The notes of the meeting held on 27 April 2021 were agreed as a correct summary.

Page 68

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Notes - 3 June 2021

5

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Draft V14

The advisory group considered a draft, pre-Regulation 18 version, of the Oxfordshire Plan
2050. This followed the broad structure of the earlier ‘skeleton documents’ discussed at
previous meetings and set out in detail:
•
•
•

how the Plan was to progress from Regulation 18 to Regulation 19 stage, taking
account of the level of committed growth from adopted Local Plans
the overall strategic context affecting the development and drafting of the Plan as part
of a detailed introduction to the Plan, including relationships to the Oxford to
Cambridge Arc.
The draft Plan sought to set out possible preferred options for policies and spatial
distribution, but also set out alternatives where appropriate.

Members were taken through a presentation which provided an overview of the Plans’
progress, its evidence base and scope before turning to each of the draft Plan’s key
themes. Officers informed the advisory group that:
•
•

•
•
•

Continued discussions were taking place with officers within each partner council and
the Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership on the detailed content of the draft Plan
so that any local issues could be identified and mitigated.
It was important to be mindful that the current version of the Plan was a working
document. As its drafting was progressed and refined, it was expected to reduce in
length. The draft did seek to show a common golden thread of approach linking
through the priorities of the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision.
Appropriate legal advice on the Plan would continue to be sought prior to the
Regulation 18 and Regulation processes as the Plan was bound by Local Plan
regulations.
The Plan would cover a 30 year period and would set the framework for future growth,
policies, and content of new Local Plans within Oxfordshire. Possible national level
Local Plan reforms could have an impact.
Significant discretion was allowed as Part of the Regulation 18 stage of the Plan’s
development subject to supporting evidence as part of the testing and consultation of
the Plan, but Regulation 19 would require precision.

In discussion, whilst noting the Plan was work in progress, a number of members of the
advisory group gave general feedback that as the draft Plan moved towards consultation
as part of the Regulation 18 stage, it was important for the language to be as accessible
as possible, whilst acknowledging that some technical language and structure had to be
used given the role and audience of the formal document. It was suggested that given the
need to engage with the public a shorter summary version should be produced. It was also
felt that there was a need to ensure the document set out clear explanations around
preferred and non-preferred options. Officers concurred with this suggestion.
Members referred to the importance, and acknowledged the difficulty of, seeking the right
balance between policies most appropriately set out on a strategic Oxfordshire wide basis
in detail, (for instance where no local policy currently existed such as nature recovery) and
those areas most appropriately reserved to the remit of individual Local Plans to preserve
the sovereignty of Local Plans. It was noted that in some respects the Plan would due to
the extended period it covered, inevitably influence future Local Plans beyond those
already adopted

Page 69

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Notes - 3 June 2021

Members welcomed what was felt overall to be a continuation and reflection in the Plan of
the strong ambition and priorities for Oxfordshire as set out in the Oxfordshire Strategic
Vision.
The advisory group received an overview of each of the themes of the draft Plan which
included the policies supporting each theme as follows:
•
•
•
•
•

Theme One: Addressing climate change
Theme Two: Improving environmental quality
Theme Three: Creating strong and healthy communities
Theme Four: Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity
Theme Five: Creating jobs and providing homes

Members were informed that ordering of the themes had been a deliberate reflection of the
priorities within the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision towards addressing climate change and
improving environmental quality. As Planning guidance for policies in these areas was
relatively less prevalent than in other areas of policy, (such as affordable housing) greater
detail was set out in policies linked to those themes than other themes within the Plan.
Theme One: Addressing climate change
In discussion, members of the advisory group asked about how issues around economic
viability had been considered in the development of the draft policies within this theme.
Officers responded that potential risks of challenge to the policies around the economic
viability test were recognised, but these could only be fully scoped and tested once the
draft policies had been developed in final form. However, it was felt that the direction and
trend of policy travel nationally was supportive of the Oxfordshire ambition to address
climate change set out in the draft policies.
Theme Two: Improving environmental quality
The advisory group was informed that the broad thrust of polices under this theme was to
go further than the current Environment Bill with the objective of securing net
environmental betterment from future development, whereas historically, Planning policy
had sought to mitigate negative impacts only. This had the potential to significantly change
how development sites would look in the future. In discussion, it was acknowledged that
the approach and polices set out in the draft Plan primarily sought to shape future
developments for instance in relation to air quality, not those developments which had
already been approved. However, taken as whole, the Plan would contain a range of
options and policies that would have a positive impact on existing as well as future
residents. For example, policies to promote and support electric vehicle use would help
support improvements in air quality overall.
Theme Three: Creating strong and healthy communities
The advisory group was informed that one of the aims of the policies within Theme Three
was to set out the standards which should apply in relation to health and provide
transparency to the NHS of the issues which local Planning authority authorities would
judge to be of importance in considering NHS proposals about health infrastructure.
In discussion, the importance of addressing inclusivity and tackling inequalities including
but not limited to health, opportunity and income as part of the Plan was highlighted and it
was felt that the draft needed to be developed further and more explicitly in this area.
Officers indicated they would investigate this.

Page 70

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Notes - 3 June 2021

Theme Four: Planning for sustainable travel and connectivity
The advisory group noted the linkages between draft policies under this theme and the
drafting of the Oxfordshire Local Transport and Connectivity Plan and Oxfordshire
Infrastructure Strategy. The suggested draft policies sought to set out land use elements of
both strategic Plans and reflected the ambition of the Oxfordshire Strategic Vision towards
achieving the shift to zero carbon.
In discussion, it was felt that that there was tension which needed to be recognised in that
strategic level infrastructure was not determined locally and whilst the Plan needed to
recognise and take account of such infrastructure, care needed to be taken not to stray
into areas beyond the Plan’s remit.
The advisory group was informed and recognised that ultimately local Planning authorities
would have to take into account and balance all relevant factors including the full remit of
policies set out in the Oxfordshire Plan 2050 in considering individual Planning
applications.
Theme Five: Creating jobs and providing homes
The advisory group was updated that the draft policies supporting Theme 5 covered a
number of strategic issues and sought to balance the complex issues around the provision
of jobs, homes, and sustainability. Lessons from the development of other strategic Plans
had been considered and as a result a number of the policies under the umbrella of
Theme 5 explicitly related to significant employment and transport hubs.
Policy directed towards town centre renewal aimed to work differently from previous retail
assessments, taking account of changes in living and working patterns, including the
longer term changes linked to the Covid-19 pandemic.
In discussion, a number of the members of the advisory group referred to the desirability of
locating housing close to employment locations. The view was also expressed that in
setting out polices within the Plan relating to potential numbers of homes and where
homes and jobs should go, care was needed in terms of the presentation and order of the
policies with the Plan document so as not to appear to prejudge the spatial options for the
distribution of growth set out later in the document.
Spatial Options: The distribution of growth
The five spatial options for the distribution of growth within the draft Plan were set out to
the advisory group. It was stressed that the final version of the Plan would include not just
the options themselves, but also guidance on how the options would be applied in
practice.
The advisory group discussed and acknowledged the importance of arriving at an eventual
Plan and distribution of growth outcome that was as fair an outcome as possible for
Oxfordshire as a whole being mindful of the priorities of sustainability and deliverability.
Officers thanked members for their comments and contributions which built on and
supported those made by officers within the partner councils. The feedback provided
would be carefully considered and inform the next iteration of the Plan.

Page 71

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Notes - 3 June 2021

6

Identification of key community influencers

Members of the advisory group were asked to assist the Oxfordshire Plan Team in
identifying appropriate points of contact within their constituent authorities and local
communities that the Team could approach as part the communications drive associated
with Plan public consultations. It was noted that this would be in addition to existing formal
consultation partners such as Town and Parish Councils.
Members of the advisory commented on the importance of social media publicity being
short and snappy in nature, whilst linking through to more detailed and technical
information for those that wished to access it.

7

Future meeting and work programme

The advisory group noted the dates of its future meetings as set out in the Agenda.
Members paid tribute to Councillor Mead for her role as Chair, noting that the Growth
Board would consider Chair appointments to the advisory groups at its meeting on 8 June.

The meeting closed at 12.15 pm

Page 72

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Notes - 3 June 2021

Minutes
OF A MEETING OF THE

Oxfordshire Growth Board Oxfordshire
Plan 2050 Advisory Group
HELD ON THURSDAY 17 JUNE 2021 AT 10.00 AM
VIRTUAL VIA MS TEAMS
Present:
Councillors: Emily Smith (Chair), Duncan Enright, Jeff Haine, Debby Hallett,
Alex Hollingsworth, Anne-Marie Simpson and Barry Wood
Officers: Adrian Colwell (Oxfordshire Plan 2050), Giles Hughes (West Oxfordshire District
Council), Kevin Jacob (Oxfordshire Growth Board) and Paul Staines, (Interim Head of
Programme) and Peter Truman, (Oxfordshire Plan 2050)

8
Introductions & welcome; Apologies for absence and notifications
of substitutions; declarations of interest; Chair's announcements
Apologies were received from Councillor Colin Clarke, Cherwell District Council,
(substituted by Councillor Barry Wood).
There were no declarations of interest.
The Chair welcomed all present to the first meeting of the advisory group since her
appointment as Chair and introductions were made.

9

Notes of the previous meeting

The notes of the meeting held on 3 June 2021 were agreed as a correct summary subject
to the amendment of reference in Minute 5 to the importance of addressing inequality
within the discussion of Theme Three: Creating strong and heathy communities as set out
in v14 of the draft Oxfordshire Local Plan document. Amendment as set out below:
'In discussion, the importance of addressing inclusivity and tackling inequalities including
but not limited to health, opportunity and income as part of the Plan was highlighted and it
was felt that the draft needed to be developed further and more explicitly in this area.
Officers indicated they would investigate this’.

10

Update on Oxfordshire Plan 2050 progress

The advisory group received and discussed a written update setting out the detail of key
changes made to v14 of the draft Oxfordshire Plan 2050 document following the feedback

Page 73

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Notes - 17 June 2021

from the advisory group itself at the previous meeting and other professional stakeholder
groups. A summary of the changes included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Merger of some proposed policies to streamline the document.
Deletion of a couple of proposals as not strategic enough or which could potentially
conflict with Local Plans.
Review of policy language to focus on ease of reading whilst retaining necessary
levels of technical detail and language.
Revised text to make it clearer in each policy area to make sure that there are policy
options for each area, whilst still identifying a preferred option.
Justifications for inclusion of policy areas made clearer with explanations not pursued.
Social inclusion addressed throughout the document
Policy proposals supported by significant evidence base including the Sustainability
Appraisal (SA), the Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) and Oxfordshire Growth
Needs Assessment (OGNA).
The Spatial Options part of the Consultation Document set out five options for
considering the distribution of future growth and how proposed sites might be
assessed

The advisory group was informed that the finalising of the Plan document to incorporate
these changes was continuing and that a further iteration of the Plan would be circulated to
the group alongside officers from the partner councils, although it was acknowledged that
the window to gather further feedback was short. Formal consideration of the Plan
consultation document through the individual overview & scrutiny and cabinet processes of
each council would then take place in July. If approval to consult to consult was given by
each individual council, the formal Regulation 18 Stage 2 public consultation would begin.
It was stressed that at this stage of the Plan approval process, the Plan remained draft and
there was still the flexibility to make further improvements and adjustments in light of
comments, notwithstanding that the overall project timelines remained tight. At Regulation
19 stage, the plan would essentially need to be more formalised and fixed.
In discussion, members of the advisory group highlighted the importance of proper coordination of the presentation of the Plan documents for the overview & scrutiny process
so that the issues were as clear as possible for the committees to focus on the draft Plan
document given that it was acknowledged that the full suite of supporting documents
would be quite lengthy.
It was agreed that it would be useful to reiterate the critical project timelines for the
adoption of the Plan and that a central repository of related Plan information and
documents would further assist members of the group. Officers agreed to investigate this.
The advisory group was also referred to a paper setting out key dates in the Regulation 18
Party 2 public consultation which was expected would commence on 30 July 2021. It was
noted that there was some discretion open to plan makers in respect of the length of
Regulation 18 Part 2 consultations and this had been set at ten weeks, but at Regulation
19 stage the public consultation stage was set at exactly six weeks by HM Government. It
was expected that the majority of public engagement and consultation during the
Regulation 18 consultation would be undertaken online via a website, taking into
consideration the continuing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. The website would contain
a suite of key plan related downloadable documentation including a summary leaflet, the
full draft Plan document, evidence base, appropriate reference to other key strategic plans,
(such as OxIS), site proposal form and a consultation response form. A number of online

Page 74

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Notes - 17 June 2021

events including webinars were planned during the consultation period and meetings with
a number of stakeholder groups scheduled both before and during the consultation.
In discussion, members of the advisory group highlighted the importance of engagement
with young people; a key part of which was presenting the consultation information and
questions in a format and language accessible to them. However, it remained important to
do everything possible to draw the consultation to the attention of non-digital users and it
was suggested that voluntary, community and faith groups might provide avenues for this
as well as local social media groups. Officers responded that every effort was being made
to undertake engagement with young people and planning for this had been informed by
the presence of a college placement within the Plan team.
In respect of engagement with local groups, there was with a focus towards engaging with
groups with an Oxfordshire wide presence to achieve the most benefit and reach. The
invitation for members of the group to suggest key points of contact within their
communities, (over and above Parish Councils which would be contacted via a different
route) was reiterated. Communications across the partner councils was also being
coordinated. Commercial radio advertisement had been considered but was not felt to
offer sufficient value for money for this application.
The update was noted.

11

Review of draft invite list for environment webinar

The advisory group considered an initial list of potential invitees for an Oxfordshire wide
Oxfordshire Plan 2050 webinar with a focus on the environment. The webinar was
provisionally expected to take place in September 2021, and it was stressed that the
rationale behind the initial invite list was to concentrate on those organisations which were
Oxfordshire wide in their representation. A number of suggestions were made, and it was
stressed that further suggestions could be made outside to the meeting to the Plan team.

12

Future meetings and work programme

The advisory group noted the dates of its future meetings as set out in the Agenda, noting
that a judgement would be made on whether a meeting in August was necessary at a later
stage.

The meeting closed at 12.00 pm

Page 75

Oxfordshire Plan 2050 Advisory Group Notes - 17 June 2021

The Growth Board Scrutiny Panel agrees its own Work Plan, which is reviewed at each meeting. The Panel is encouraged to be strict in
prioritising key issues for review, in addition to the entirety of the Growth Board’s forthcoming agendas, which will feature as a standard item
on the Work Plan. The Panel’s ongoing review of their work plan should be considered in conjunction with the Growth Board’s Forward Plan.
Meeting date
12 July 2021

Item

Description and rationale

Pathways to a
To consider the outcomes of the Oxfordshire Zero Carbon Economy
Zero Carbon
Study and how it impacts on and can inform the Growth Board’s
Oxfordshire Report programmes.

Lead Officer

Ahmed Goga,
OxLEP

Page 76

Oxfordshire Plan
2050 Regulation
18 Part 2
Consultation

To note progress in undertaking the Regulation 18 Part 2 Consultation
for the Oxfordshire Plan 2050, which is due for agreement by the six
Oxfordshire Local Authorities.

Giles Hughes,
Chief Executive,
West
Oxfordshire
District Council

Q4 Housing and
Growth Deal
Progress

To consider a report to the Growth Board on the 2020/21 Quarter 4
progress for the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.

Paul Staines,
Interim Head of
Programme

Q4 Housing and
Growth Deal
Financial Report

To consider a summary to the Growth Board on finances for Quarter 4
Year 3 (2020/21)

The Oxford to
Cambridge Arc

To receive any updates in respect of regional developments within the
Oxford to Cambridge Arc.

Hannah Doney,
Head of
Corporate
Finance,
Oxfordshire
County
Council
Andrew Down,
Growth Board
Director

Agenda Item 10

Growth Board Scrutiny Panel Work Plan

Meeting date

Page 77

13 September
2021



Growth Board
Name

To consider whether the Board wishes to change its name.

Andrew Down,
Growth Board
Director

Local Nature
Partnership
Update

To consider an update on progress towards establishing a Local
Nature Partnership for Oxfordshire.

Giles Hughes,
Chief Executive,
West
Oxfordshire
District Council

Item
The Oxford to
Cambridge Arc

Description and rationale
To receive any updates in respect of regional developments within the
Oxford to Cambridge Arc.

Lead Officer
Andrew Down,
Growth Board
Director

Q1 Housing and
Growth Deal
Progress Report

To receive the 2021/22 Quarter 1 progress report for the Oxfordshire
Housing and Growth Deal.

Paul Staines,
Interim Head of
Programme

Q1 Housing and
Growth Deal
Financial Report

To receive the financial summary for Quarter 1 Year 4 (2021/22) for the
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal.

Lorna Baxter,
Oxfordshire
County Council

Oxfordshire’s
Visitor Economy
(provisional)

To consider a report from the Growth Board’s Executive Officer Group
concerning Oxfordshire’s Visitor Economy. Note, the specific scope of
this work is in development, and provisional at this time.

To be confirmed

Economic
Recovery Plan

To receive an update on work being led by OxLEP together with
partners to develop an Economic Recovery Plan for Oxfordshire, which
responds to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.

Ahmed Goga,
OxLEP

Potential Task and Finish Review: - Modern methods of construction suggested by Councillor Alex Postan.

